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The Agasti Group
The Agasti Group consists of the parent company Agasti 
Holding ASA and the wholly-owned subsidiaries Navigea 
Securities AS and its associated Swedish branch, Navexa 
Securities AB, Agasti Capital Markets AS, Obligo Investment 
Management AS and Agasti Business Services AS, including 
the company’s Swedish branch. The Group’s activities are  
also carried out from the companies Agasti Wunderlich 
Capital Markets AS, Obligo Real Estate AS and Obligo Fund 
Management AS, where the former is a subsidiary of Agasti 
Capital Markets AS and the remaining two are subsidiaries  
of Obligo Investment Management AS. The Group also owns 
the companies Acta Asset Management AS and Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS, including Acta Kapitalforvaltning  
AS’ Swedish branch Acta Kapitalförvaltning. 

Overview of activities and where the Group operates
The Agasti Group undertakes activities within the fields  
of investment advice and management of alternative 
investments, and also acts as an advisor and facilitator  
of capital market services for wealthy individuals, companies 
and institutional investors.

The Group was established in 1990 and the controlling 
company Agasti Holding ASA has been listed on the Oslo 
Stock Exchange since 2001. The Group operates in Norway, 
Sweden, Germany, Luxembourg, Great Britain and the USA. 

In addition to being a major distributor of selected equity and 
fixed income funds, the Agasti Group has established one of 
the most experienced teams in the market within real estate, 
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shipping and private equity. Through a strategic 
collaborative agreement with Wunderlich 
Investment Company and their energy team in 
Houston, the Group also possesses unique 
competence within energy and oil services. This has 
been achieved by bringing together dedicated 
people with international investment banking 
experience from renowned financial institutions in 
Norway and abroad, whilst at the same time further 
developing the strategic collaboration with 
Wunderlich Securities in the USA. Collectively, the 
Agasti Group’s activities represent the entire 
industry line - from investment advice and wealth 
management, through facilitation and advice 
associated with project financing and capital market 
transactions for industry, to the provision of a 
complete management service for all the 
investments our clients have made through the 
Agasti Group. The Agasti Group carries out activities 
within the areas of investment advice and insurance 
mediation, represented by Navigea Securities in 
Norway and its Swedish branch, as well as Navexa 
Securities in Sweden. Operations requiring licences 
from the authorities are carried out by the 
companies Navigea Securities AS, Navexa Securities 
AB and Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS. The 
Agasti Group does not carry out research and 
development activities.  

Agasti’s vision is “We create opportunities”. The 
vision has clear ambition and indicates a clear 
direction. The vision invokes a sense of community 
and is a guiding principle in the selection of our 
values. The Group’s objective with its vision and 
values is that taken together, they will inspire and 
influence employee attitudes and provide direction 
for the Group in decision-making processes. 

Going concern assumption
In accordance with Section 3-3 of the Norwegian 
Accounting Act, it is hereby confirmed that the 
accounts have been prepared on the basis of a 
going concern assumption.

Corporate governance
Agasti Holding ASA has one share class, in which 
each share entitles the holder to one vote at the 
company’s general meeting.

Agasti Holding ASA’s ordinary general meeting  
has given the company’s Board of Directors 
authorisation  to issue new shares. The authorisation 
was granted at the ordinary general meeting on  
26 June 2013 and applies for the issuing of up to  
57.1 million shares with a nominal value of NOK 0.18. 
Parts of this authorisation are specifically linked to  
a rights issue of 31.1 million shares, and were valid 

until 1 September 2013. The remaining authorisation 
for 26 million shares is valid until the date of the next 
ordinary general meeting, but no later than 30 June 
2014. The authorisation is based on a desire to be 
able to cover the company’s capital requirements, 
issue shares as payment in the event of acquisitions 
and pay stock options or allocate shares, stock 
options and/or warrant shares to employees in 
senior positions.

During 2013, the Board of Directors of Agasti 
Holding ASA issued 3,500,000 shares under the 
authorisation granted by the company’s general 
meeting on 23 May 2012. The shares are used as 
consideration in connection with the company’s 
acquisition of investment company Wunderlich 
Securities AS. During 2013, the Board of Directors  
of Agasti Holding ASA also issued 1,330,865 shares 
under the authorisation described in the previous 
paragraph. These shares were issued in order to fulfil 
the company’s obligations in connection with stock 
options granted to employees in senior positions.  
In addition, on 26 June 2013 the company’s Board  
of Directors decided to issue 31,111,111 shares in a 
rights issue in order to strengthen the company’s 
capital base. The total number of shares issued by 
the board during 2013 under the authorisation given  
by the general meeting is 35,941,976.

During 2013, the Board of Directors of Agasti 
Holding ASA has not used the authorisation granted 
at the general meetings of 23 May 2012 and 26 June 
2013 to acquire up to 25.5 million and 26 million of 
the company’s own shares, respectively. 

In March of 2014, the Board of Directors of Agasti 
Holding ASA adopted a new incentive scheme for 
selected managers in the Group. The scheme is part 
of a long-term incentive scheme, which shall 
contribute to creating positive results, attracting 
new employees as well as retaining existing key 
persons. At the time of adoption of the annual 
accounts, a total of 10 million stock options are 
outstanding, of which employees in leading 
positions hold 5.6 million stock options. The 
allocation is in accordance with the authorisation  
granted by the annual general meeting on 23 May 
2012 and 26 June 2013.

All subsidiaries are wholly-owned and as such there 
are no conflicts of interest with any minority 
shareholders. 

In August 2012, Agasti Holding ASA entered into an 
agreement with then Board Member and later 
Chairman of the Board Merete Haugli regarding 
services linked to the area of compliance. The 
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in the American. At the end of the year, Agasti 
Holding ASA had six employees, of whom one was 
on leave.

The Board of Directors regards the working 
environment in Agasti as good. The Agasti Group  
is characterised by highly qualified employees with  
a positive attitude and low sickness absenteeism. 
Sickness absenteeism for the financial year totalled 
8,699 hours, which corresponds to approximately 
2.0 percent of the total working hours, compared 
with 2.2 percent in 2012. Agasti has not had any 
reported injuries, property damage or accidents of 
any significance in 2013. The nature of the Group’s 
activities is such that they only have a minor direct 
impact on the external environment. 

Agasti has the goal of ensuring diversity in the 
Group, and shall recruit, develop and maintain the 
best employees, independent of gender, age, 
ethnicity or reduced functional ability. In certain  
job categories, the Agasti Group currently has a 
 relatively uniformly composed group of employees. 
Agasti shall ensure diversity through steered 
recruitment processes, where priority is placed on 
professional qualifications and competencies for  
the relevant role, as well as greater variation in the 
Group’s diversity. This will be an ongoing activity 
associated with the Agasti Group’s recruitment 
processes. Individual departments have challenges 
in ensuring diversity among the qualified 
candidates. This is especially evident in administra-
tive job categories in staffing and support functions. 
Here, the work to increase diversity will continue.

Central processes linked to the payment of salaries, 
working conditions and personnel policy have been 
established. These are intended to ensure that 
employees can maintain a balance between their 
career and family life, and safeguard employees 
against harassment and discrimination. Agasti 
usually carries out an annual employee survey  
to identify possible challenges linked to employee 
satisfaction and personnel management. As  
a result of the replacement of personnel within  
the company’s HR department the survey was not 
carried out in 2013, but the company plans to do this 
in 2014.

The Board of Directors and management of Agasti 
place emphasis on equal opportunities between the 
genders and endeavour to facilitate this through the 
company’s personnel policy in terms of salary, 
promotion and recruitment. However, Agasti has a 
clear gender division where men form the majority 
within management positions and positions within 
advisory services. Women have a similarly dominant 

services were beyond the scope of the work tasks 
and obligations relating to the other positions she 
holds within Agasti. In 2013, the Board of Directors 
decided to remunerate Merete Haugli with a total of 
NOK 150,000 for this work in the period 2012-2013.

The strategic collaboration with Wunderlich 
Investment Company, Inc. has resulted in the Agasti 
Group acquiring 100 per cent of Wunderlich 
Securities AS for NOK 11 million in February 2013. 
This company was indirectly controlled by Alfred 
Ydstebø, former Chairman of the Board and Chief 
Executive Officer between August 2012 and 
December 2013. Beyond this, there have been no 
material transactions between the company and 
shareholders, the Board of Directors or manage-
ment. Potential conflicts of interest between the 
Board of Directors and these groups are dealt with 
by the Board of Directors, and the Board of 
Directors has been extremely committed to 
following the current applicable rules regarding 
impartiality and good corporate governance.

The Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA 
complies with the current applicable Norwegian 
Code of Practice for Corporate Governance. The 
Board of Directors has provided an account of 
Corporate Governance within the Agasti Group in a 
separate chapter of the annual report. The report is 
also available at www.agasti.no. 

The Accounting Act Section 3-3b, Sub-section 2 
(statement on corporate governance)
The statement on corporate governance also 
explains how the Accounting Act Section 3-3b, 
Subsection 2 is covered in the Agasti Group. 

The Accounting Act Section 3-3c  
(statement on corporate social responsibility) 
The Agasti Group has adopted dedicated corporate 
social responsibility guidelines, which describe how 
the Group relates to environmental considerations, 
human rights, working conditions and corporate 
governance and integrity control. These guidelines 
are described in a separate statement of corporate 
social responsibility, which is included in the Group’s 
annual report for 2013. 

Information on the working environment, equal 
opportunities and impact on the external 
environment
At the end of 2013 the Group had a total of 242 
employees, of whom 203 worked full-time, 16 
worked part-time (substitutes and temporary 
positions) and 23 were on leave. At the end of the 
year, 169 persons were employed in the Norwegian 
operations, 70 in the Swedish operations and three 
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Securities AS and Platou Fund Management AS, 
which contributed positively to equity under 
management with NOK 0.4 billion and NOK 1.2 
billion, respectively. On the other hand, the 
development of client funds under management  
has been negatively affected by payments to clients 
of NOK 0.7 billion throughout the year. 

Recurring revenues ended at NOK 362 million in 
2013, which is an increase of NOK 26 million, or 7.6 
per cent, from NOK 337 million in 2012. The 
acquisition of investment management companies 
within shipping and real estate from ABG Sundal 
Collier Norge ASA, the takeover of management 
mandates within private equity, infrastructure and 
other alternative investments from Swedbank First 
Securities, and the acquisition of Platou Fund 
Management AS and associated companies have 
contributed to the increase in the recurring 
revenues. 

The Agasti Group has a strong focus on building 
long-term recurring revenues, which together with 
an active focus on expenses helps to strengthen  
the business model and make it robust. In 2013, 
recurring revenues covered 93 per cent of the 
company’s fixed and activity-based costs, 
compared with 93 per cent in 2012. The Agasti 
Group has a strategic objective that the Group’s 
recurring revenues shall cover the fixed and 
activity-based costs.

Agasti Holding ASA has no external operations, and 
only had operating revenues of NOK 22 million from 
the provision of internal services within the Group. 

Earnings
In 2013, the Agasti Group’s operating earnings 
ended at NOK -4 million, compared with NOK -56 
million in 2012. The result after tax was NOK -2 
million. The equivalent figure for 2012 was NOK -54 
million. The improvement in the result is primarily 
due to an increase in the Group’s total income of 
NOK 55 million. 

The underlying operation in the group is positive, 
and the operating result excluding impairment of 
goodwill and the costs of restructuring totalling 
NOK 23 million associated with the Norwegian 
Financial Supervisory Authority’s notice to recall 
Navigea Securities AS’ permissions is NOK 19 million. 
In 2013, variable and activity-based costs ended  
at NOK 23 million and NOK 63 million respectively, 
which is a total reduction of NOK 41 million 
compared with the corresponding figures for 2012. 
Fixed contractual costs ended at NOK 312 million in 
2013. The equivalent figure for 2012 was 272 million. 

position within staffing and support functions. 
Agasti has an equal salary principle, which states 
that there shall be equal basic pay for equal work. 
However, men have a higher average salary than 
women, since the majority of management 
employees are men, and advisors have a higher 
salary level on average than positions within staffing 
and support functions. Of the Group’s 242 
employees, 88 were women and 154 were men.  
The company actively seeks women to take leading 
positions, including positions on the Board of 
Directors. At the end of 2013 the company’s Board 
of Directors consisted of three women, including the 
Vice Chairman of the Board, and one man who is the 
Chairman of the Board.

Comments on the annual accounts
In the view of the Board of Directors and Chief 
Executive Officer, the consolidated income 
statement, the consolidated balance sheet, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and  
the consolidated cash flow statement, and the notes 
attached for the Group and the company income 
statement, the company balance sheet and the 
company cash flow statement with attached notes 
for Agasti Holding ASA, provide a full and fair 
account of the operations for the year and the 
financial position of the Group at the end of the year. 
No conditions have occurred after the end of the 
financial year that affect this assessment of the 
Group or company’s results and financial position 
that are not presented in the Directors’ report or the 
annual accounts.

Revenues
The Group’s revenues totalled NOK 421 million in 
2013, compared with 366 million in 2012. 

Transaction revenues ended at NOK 59 million.  
The equivalent figure for 2012 was 29 million. The 
increase compared with 2012 is due to increased 
activity within the Markets segment, combined with 
higher gross subscriptions for the Group’s savings 
and investment products. Transaction revenues are 
affected by the fact that a majority of the Group’s 
active clients within the Wealth Management 
segment have chosen to hold their investments  
with the Agasti Group through advisory accounts, 
and are therefore only charged a fee based on their 
equity under management. 

Equity under management increased from NOK 24 
billion at the beginning of the year to NOK 30 billion 
as at 31 December 2013. This significant increase is 
mainly a result of a return on clients’ investments of 
NOK 4.5 billion, NOK 0.7 billion in net deposits from 
customers, and the acquisition of Wunderlich 
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Net liquid funds for the Group at the end of 2013 
comprised NOK 131 million. In addition, the Group 
had unused overdraft entitlements totalling NOK 50 
million. The Group expects a continued acceptable 
liquidity situation in 2014.

Segment information
Throughout the entire year, the Agasti Group has 
reported on the Wealth Management, Markets and 
Other segments. 

Wealth Management
This segment includes the Group’s investment 
advisory activities, customer centres and custodial 
services in addition to corresponding support 
functions. During the first half of 2014, the customer 
centres were moved to Agasti Wunderlich Capital 
Markets as a part of the Markets segment.

Throughout 2013, Navigea Securities AS and Navexa 
Securities AB have been responsible for the Group’s 
activities relating to investment advice, and have 
also been responsible for the Group’s brokerage 
activities throughout parts of the year. From 1 
October 2013, Navigea Securities AS’ activities  
in Sweden have been arranged as a branch with 
Navexa Securities AB as the associated agent. The 
brokerage activities relating to unlisted shares and 
larger clients were transferred to fellow subsidiary 
Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS in March 2013. 

Throughout the year, the Agasti Group has 
maintained its strong position in the market for 
savings and investment solutions, and external 
parties’ on-going measurement of customer 
satisfaction shows that clients have become 
increasingly satisfied with us throughout 2013. The 
Group has a well-established distribution apparatus 
in both Norway and Sweden consisting of advisory 
offices, in addition to investment centres for order 
processing, investment brokerage and customer 
service. At year-end, the Agasti Group had 43,000 
clients in Norway and Sweden within this segment. 

The Agasti Group’s business model within Wealth 
Management involves focusing on offering an 
increased level of service to the largest clients, while 
smaller clients will be offered adequate and efficient 
service through customer centres. The Agasti 
Group’s advisory clients within Wealth Management 
hold their investments in an advisory account. 
Advisory accounts are based on fixed fees, which 
are set based on the amount of equity the client has 
invested through the Agasti Group. At the end of 
December 2013, around 8,600 clients had 
approximately NOK 13 billion invested through 
advisory accounts. 

The increase of NOK 40 million is partly due to the 
provision for future lease obligations, the fact that 
the Agasti Group throughout the year has taken 
over employees from ABG Sundal Collier, Swedbank 
First Securities and RS Platou, while simultaneously 
recruiting highly qualified personnel with extensive 
international and national work experience from 
renowned competitors. 

The Group’s tax expenses for the year are NOK 5 
million, compared with NOK -6 million in 2012. The 
effective tax rate for 2013 is 171 per cent. The 
equivalent figure for 2012 was minus 10.2 per cent. 

The parent company, Agasti Holding ASA, had 
operating earnings of NOK -15 million, compared 
with NOK -8 million in the previous year. After a 
valuation of the shares in subsidiary company 
Navigea Securities AS, the shares are written down 
by NOK 25 million. The company had a net income 
of NOK 7 million compared with NOK -32 million in 
the previous year. Net income includes Group contri-
butions received from the operational subsidiaries of 
NOK 60 million.

Balance sheet 
The Group’s total capital at the end of 2013 was NOK 
419 million compared with NOK 339 million at the 
end of 2012. The increase is explained by an increase 
in goodwill from the acquisition of companies as 
discussed under segment information below, an 
increase in current receivables, and an increase in 
financial assets/shares in investment portfolios 
taken over in connection with the settlement of 
client issues. Consolidated equity at the end of the 
year was NOK 230 million, which represents an 
equity ratio of 55 per cent. The equivalent figures  
for 2012 were NOK 184 million and 55 per cent, 
respectively.

Cash flow and liquidity
In 2013 the Group had a negative cash flow from 
operational activities of NOK -8 million. The 
discrepancy between the positive operating 
earnings and negative cash flow from operational 
activities can be mainly explained by the cash  
effect of the dissolution of previous employee 
restructuring costs, repayment of bank overdrafts 
and changes in other current receivables and 
liabilities in relation to 2012. Cash flow from investing 
activities was negative at NOK 16 million, from 
investing in fixed assets and subsidiaries as well as 
investing in financial assets. Cash flow from 
financing activities was positive with NOK 41 million 
from capital increases throughout the year and an 
increase in long-term liabilities. Liquidity at the start 
of the year was good, and remained so at year-end. 
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Wunderlich Capital Markets AS, has a solid position 
within the real estate, shipping, energy, infrastruc-
ture and private equity sectors. These are sectors 
that are extremely well-suited to the Agasti Group’s 
business model in terms of both strategy and 
expertise. The acquisition resulted in an increase in 
equity under management of around NOK 0.4 billion. 

Through its activities within Capital Markets, the 
Agasti Group has won additional mandates in 
Norway and the USA. Several of these have been 
obtained as a direct consequence of the cross- 
border activities that the strategic collaboration  
with Wunderlich in the USA represents. Agasti uses 
both the American and Norwegian networks to raise 
capital, and is able to assist clients with analyses 
through Wunderlich Securities. 

The Investment Management business area carries 
out a broad spectrum of management services, 
including investor relations and business operations 
on behalf of clients who have made various 
investments through the Agasti Group. This includes 
everything from development and facilitation of 
investment projects to extensive reporting on the 
development of existing investment portfolios. The 
Group’s activities within Investment Management 
are operated by Obligo Investment Management AS 
and its subsidiaries. From July 2014, some of these 
activities will be covered by the AIFM Directive, and 
Obligo is currently executing a process to prepare 
the implementation of the directive, which includes 
an application for a licence to be a manager of 
alternative investment funds (AIF). 

With effect from January 2013, Obligo Investment 
Management AS has taken over the management  
of all structures that clients of the Agasti Group  
have invested in within real estate, shipping, private 
equity, infrastructure and renewable energy. In 
October, Obligo Investment Management took  
over Platou Fund Management AS and further 
strengthened the real estate team while simultane-
ously increasing equity under management by 
around NOK 1.2 billion. These transactions, including 
the acquisition of Wunderlich Securities AS, have 
strengthened the segment considerably with 
increased annual recurring revenues of over 10 per 
cent in 2013. 

Operating revenues totalled NOK 140 million in 2013, 
compared with NOK 99 million in 2012. Operating 
earnings ended at NOK 20 million, compared with 
NOK 31 million in 2012. 

As a result of the demerger of the management unit 
from Navigea Securities AS to Obligo Investment 

Gross subscriptions in savings and investment 
products offered by the Agasti Group ended at NOK 
2,989 million, which is an increase of NOK 1,308 
million compared with 2012. Since a significant 
proportion of clients’ investments are held in 
different variants of the Advisory account, and that 
here clients do not pay transaction fees, revenues in 
the short term will be affected by new sales to a 
lesser extent. Subscriptions to new investments are 
however important, since for some financial 
instruments that are subscribed to in the event of 
new sales, the Group will be entitled to receive 
recurring revenues on the investments in the future. 

Operating revenues in the segment ended at NOK 
281 million in 2013. The equivalent figure for 2012 was 
267 million. Operating earnings for the year ended at 
NOK 3 million compared with NOK -59 million in 2012. 
The improvement of NOK 62 million is due to a 
combination of increased revenues and the reduction 
of operating expenses throughout the year. 

Markets 
This segment includes the Group’s activities within 
Capital Markets and Investment Management. The 
companies Navigea Securities AS, Agasti 
Wunderlich Capital Markets AS and Obligo 
Investment Management AS have had responsibility 
for the Group’s operations within Markets in 2013. 
Operations requiring licences from the authorities 
have been carried out from Navigea Securities AS 
and Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS. From 
2014, all operative activities relating to the segment 
will be undertaken within the companies Agasti 
Wunderlich Capital Markets AS and Obligo 
Investment Management AS.  

The Capital Markets business area covers the Group’s 
operations requiring licences from the authorities 
within corporate finance, institutional sales and 
product development. Capital Markets also covers 
project brokerage and the trading of unlisted shares 
on the secondary market. Brokerage relating to 
unlisted shares and larger clients was moved from the 
Wealth Management segment to the Markets segment 
during the first quarter of 2013, and the comparable 
figures for 2012 have been adjusted accordingly. As a 
result of a strategy process initiated in the spring of 
2013 The Group’s Norwegian customer centre was 
transferred to Capital Markets as a part of the Markets 
segment effective from February 2014. An equivalent 
transfer of the Swedish customer centre will take place 
during the first half of 2014.

Agasti Capital Markets AS acquired the securities 
company Wunderlich Securities AS in February 
2013. The company, which is now named Agasti 
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The investors dispute the obligation to repay the 
loans to the bank, and have also turned to Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS as advisor to claim coverage 
for any loan that is not covered by the bank, and lost 
equity. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS considers the risk 
linked to these actions to be relatively limited, since 
the company is only responsible for the advisory 
service, and this is provided on an individual basis. 
This assessment is also supported by the Swedish 
National Board for Consumer Complaints (ARN), 
which in March 2010 reached the principle decision 
that Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS is not liable towards 
investors due to inexpedient advice in connection 
with the bankruptcy of Lehman Brothers. Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS expects that, through 
individual legal proceedings, the court will come to 
the same conclusion as the ARN. The legal actions 
that have now been brought against Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS do however involve risk, both 
economically and in terms of reputation, since the 
company may be responsible for errors or omissions 
in the advice in certain cases, something which the 
ARN has also maintained. Economically, the 
maximum exposure is estimated to be around SEK 
168 million provided that all the plaintiffs win their 
claims, and that lost equity must also be compen-
sated. Any legal costs and accrued interest will be in 
addition. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS disputes the 
claims. Regarding reputational damage, much of this 
has already occurred, in that the case has circulated 
in the media since September 2008.
In January 2009, the Norwegian Financial Services 
Complaints Board (Finansklagenemnda) announced 
its ruling on a complaint against a major Norwegian 
bank’s sale of two leveraged structured products to 
investors in the year 2000. The Board’s decision was 
not unanimous. Three of the five members voted in 
favour of the complainant. Immediately after the 
verdict was announced, the bank stated that it 
would comply with the decision of the Board. The 
Norwegian Supreme Court handled the case in 2013, 
and decided that the bank should compensate the 
customer for his lost equity. The Supreme Court 
determined that the bank had given the investor 
incorrect and overoptimistic information regarding 
the investment. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS notes 
that the judgement relates to two specific products 
from a particular bank. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 
deems that a comparison with all structured 
products is not justified. After an internal review, 
equivalent incorrect information has not been found 
in any of the products distributed by Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 
considers the risk of a group action lawsuit from 
customers who have chosen to invest in similar 
products distributed by the company and which 
may result in major losses to be relatively limited. 

Management AS, the share of the total fixed 
revenues allocated to the Markets segment was 
reduced from 50 per cent to 30 per cent. The 
reallocation of income between the two segments  
is a consequence of a new collaborative agreement 
between Navigea Securities and Obligo Investment 
Management. The agreement came into effect in the 
fourth quarter of 2012.

Activities in the Markets segment will be further 
developed in the times ahead, and therefore be well 
equipped to take on new responsibilities within 
product development, administration of investment 
portfolios and corporate finance in the future. 

Other
Under the Other activities segment, Group 
administration and Group internal administrative 
services within finance and economy, personnel, IT, 
communications and markets are reported on, in 
addition to costs relating to Acta Kapitalforvaltning 
AS and Acta Asset Management AS. A significant 
proportion of the IT operations is contracted out to 
external partners. The Other segment normally has 
no external income, but covers costs by providing 
services to other segments through internal service 
agreements, entered into under arm’s length 
conditions. 

The total operating income for the segment was 
NOK -26 million, compared with NOK -28 million the 
previous year. The operating earnings are negatively 
affected by a write-down of goodwill of NOK 8.8 
million relating to the acquisition of Axir ASA in the 
spring of 2010. The company is continued in the 
Agasti Group by Navigea Securities AS, and in the 
Norwegian business operations. On 17 March 2014, 
Navigea Securities AS received notice from the 
Financial Supervisory Authority of the withdrawal  
of licences based on the results of an on-site 
inspection in April 2013. The consequence of a 
decision in line with the notice from the FSA may 
result in the liquidation or disposal of parts or all of 
the Group’s activities within investment advice. The 
FSA has not yet reached a final decision in the case, 
but experience from previous cases dictates that in 
most instances the final decision is in line with the 
provided temporary notice. 

Regulatory and legal matters
Just under 450 Swedish investors, who in the years 
2006 and 2007 invested in bonds issued by Lehman 
Brothers, and which were distributed by Acta 
Kapitalförvaltning, a branch of Acta Kapitalforvaltning 
AS, a subsidiary of Agasti Holding ASA, have brought 
legal action against Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS. 
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the Agasti Group represents a strategic risk factor 
for the Group. The same is true of a decline in 
revenues in the form of lower margins than desired. 
The Agasti Group has implemented action plans  
to counteract the negative effects of these risks. 
Furthermore, the failure of the business model itself, 
whereby financial profits are not achieved, is a risk 
that must be classified as strategic. The failure of 
routines and other conditions of a serious nature at 
our most important business partners, as well as the 
risk that the Agasti Group is unable to comply with 
the regulatory requirements that apply to the Group 
at any given time, will also be important strategic 
risk factors. The Financial Supervisory Authority  
of Norway’s on-site inspection of Navigea Securities 
AS in the spring of 2013 confirmed this. In 
connection with the Financial Supervisory Authority 
of Norway’s notification of the possible revocation 
of Navigea Securites’ licences to provide investment 
services, there is a danger that suppliers and clients 
will evaluate their relations with Agasti, which 
represents further strategic risks for the Group. The 
Agasti Group has detailed these risks in an analysis 
and implemented measures. The Group considers 
the strategic risk factors to be manageable.

Operational risk
Failures in the most central processes in the Group 
represent an operational risk. Errors in the advice we 
give to clients, transaction errors, products that do 
not perform as expected as well as errors and 
failures in computer systems used within the Group 
are all examples of operational risk. The Agasti 
Group and its subsidiaries have carried out these risk 
assessments and implemented measures to ensure 
that this risk is as minimal as possible.

Financial risk
The Agasti Group has relatively low exposure to 
financial instruments. The Group’s liquidity is held  
in the form of bank deposits and/or treasury bills 
with short terms and very low exchange rate risk.  
At the end of 2013, the Group has limited 
interest-bearing liabilities and therefore has no 
interest rate risk related to borrowed capital.

The financial market risk is otherwise mainly limited 
to future income being affected by changes in 
market prices of the company’s products, as well as 
general market fluctuations. A persistent negative 
trend in the savings and investment market in 
general may result in dissatisfied customers because 
of poor returns on their invested capital. Such a 
development may result in a risk of reduced 
business transactions with existing clients. Future 
portfolio income will vary with fluctuations in market 
prices of the client portfolios being managed. The 

Unlike the bank, which has been the customer’s 
financial advisor, lender, producer and organiser, 
Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS has only been 
responsible for financial advice in relation to its 
customers. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS admits 
liability for the advice given. The risk of a group 
action is also considered to be relatively limited 
because of the fact that all advice is given on an 
 individual basis.

Capital adequacy requirements
Agasti Holding ASA is subject to capital adequacy 
requirements on a consolidated basis, cf. Section 
8-12 of the Securities Trading Act. Consolidated 
requirements for subordinated capital as at 31 
December 2013 consist of requirements regarding 
the coverage of operational risk estimated based on 
the Group’s average turnover for the past three 
years, with the addition of coverage for credit risk 
calculated based on the Group’s combined assets. 
Net subordinated capital is estimated at NOK 110 
million and shows a surplus of subordinated capital 
as at 31 December 2013 of NOK 31 million with 
regard to the authorities’ requirements of NOK 79 
million equivalent to 8 per cent of the calculation 
basis. 
On the basis of the rules on major interests derived 
from subordinated capital, restrictions exist 
regarding the opportunity to transfer funds 
between companies in the Group.

Risk assessment
The Board of Directors carries out a review of risk 
management within the Agasti Group on an annual 
basis. The Board of Directors and CEO consider the 
most significant risks for the Agasti Group’s 
operations to be possible shortcomings of the 
advisory processes, where recommended 
investment solutions do not match the requirements 
and suitability of the client. Product selection 
processes where there is the possibility of a shortfall 
in the quality control of fund managers will also 
represent a risk for the Group. An increase in the 
number of client complaints in general and 
particularly the legal processes regarding products 
containing bonds issued by Lehman Brothers is also 
one of the most significant risk factors for the 
Group. The total number of complaints about the 
advice that have been made since the introduction 
of new and stricter requirements for the advisory 
process is low. The vast majority of the complaints 
that the Group has received date from the period 
before the MiFID Directive came into force in 
November 2007. 

Strategic risk
A decline in the demand for products offered by  
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investment advice. This may negatively impact upon 
Agasti’s earnings for 2014 as a result of restructuring 
costs. A temporary estimate of such costs amounts 
to around NOK 40 million if the activities within 
investment advisory are terminated. In this case, it  
is costs that will be charged to the consolidated 
financial statements in the first half of 2014 with the 
exception of NOK 14 million related to future lease 
obligations, for which provisions have been made 
during the 2013 financial year.

Future prospects
The acquisition of investment management 
companies from ABG Sundal Collier Norge ASA and 
Platou Fund Management AS, in combination with 
the takeover of certain investment management 
mandates from Swedbank First Securities, makes 
the Agasti Group, through its subsidiary Obligo 
Investment Management AS, an even stronger 
player in the Nordic market for investment 
management services. With more than NOK 57 
billion under management, of which the majority is  
in alternative investments, the Agasti Group has the 
best starting point from which to further consolidate 
its market position in these areas. The Agasti Group 
now has a robust and knowledge-driven manage-
ment platform that will contribute to improving the 
cash flow from our clients’ alternative investments 
with the Group. Going forward, the ambition is to take 
on more mandates, both internal and external. 

The acquisition of Wunderlich Securities AS, now 
Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS, combined 
with the strategic alliance with Wunderlich 
Investment Company, Inc. in the USA, means that the 
Agasti Group possesses one of the industry’s most 
experienced and qualified teams within real estate, 
private equity, shipping and energy and oil services. 

The acquisition of the companies from ABG Sundal 
Collier Norge ASA, the takeover of investment 
management mandates from Swedbank First 
Securities and the acquisition of Wunderlich 
Securities AS and Platou Fund Management AS, are 
all in line with previously stated aims to strengthen 
the Group’s presence in the Investment Manage-
ment and Capital Markets business areas. These 
transactions will contribute to considerably 
improving the Group’s competitive edge and 
offering to clients in both the short and long term. 

The Agasti Group will continue to develop the 
Investment Management and Capital Markets 
business areas. Agasti will actively use the strategic 
alliance with Wunderlich Investment Company, Inc. 
in the USA to attract new business, both in the 
Nordic market and the US market. 

currency risk in the Agasti Group is mainly linked  
to a significant part of the company’s business 
operations being located in Sweden. On the basis of 
the development and expectations in the currency 
and interest markets, the Board has assessed the 
currency risk as moderate, and has no plans 
regarding currency hedging at the present time. 

As at 31.12.2013, Agasti Holding ASA had pledged 
unconditional guarantees for individual tenancy 
agreements entered into by the subsidiaries. The 
rental guarantees have a remaining duration of 
between one to five years. 

The risk that a customer or other counterparty  
does not have the economic ability to fulfil their 
obligations is regarded as relatively low. Total 
receivables and accrued income as at 31.12.2013 
totalled NOK 91 million. Historically, losses on 
receivables have been low.

Events after balance sheet date
In order to fulfil the company’s obligations under 
option agreements entered into with employees, the 
Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA decided 
on 13 February 2014 to make use of the share 
issuance authorisation granted by the annual 
general meeting on 26 June 2013 towards the 
relevant option holders. The Board of Directors 
decided to increase the company’s share capital by 
NOK 43,443.54 from NOK 52,825,090.68 to NOK 
52,868,534.22 through the issuing of 241,353 new 
shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.18. As a 
result of the issue, Agasti received gross proceeds of 
NOK 265,488.30.

At its meeting of 6 March 2014, the Board of 
Directors of Agasti Holding ASA adopted an option 
scheme for selected managers in the Agasti Group 
with a total budget of 7 million stock options. The 
scheme is part of an incentive programme for the 
Agasti Group, which will help to give positive results 
and attract new employees as well as retain existing 
employees. On 6 March 2014, 5.67 million stock 
options were allocated to selected managers in the 
Agasti Group. Following this allocation, the number 
of issued options totals 10.00 million shares.

On 17 March 2014, subsidiary Navigea Securities AS 
received a “Notice of the withdrawal of licences” 
from the Financial Supervisory Authority following 
an on-site inspection in April 2013. The final report 
from the FSA will be issued once Navigea Securities 
AS has provided its response to the notice. The 
consequence of a decision in line with the notice 
from the FSA may result in the liquidation or 
disposal of parts or all of the Group’s activities within 
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The strategic restructuring that the Agasti Group 
will carry out in 2014 will focus on profitable growth 
within the Capital Markets and Investment 
Management business areas. A possible liquidation 
or disposal of the Group’s activities within 
investment advice is expected to improve the 
Group’s profitability in the long term.

The Board of Directors and the CEO expect a good 
long-term market for savings and investment 
solutions offered by companies in the Agasti Group. 
As one of the dominating market participants in 
Scandinavia, and with Europe’s most attractive clients 
in our catchment area, we have a solid basis for 
profitable operation both in the short and long term. 

Profitability
Throughout 2013, the Agasti Group has continued 
the trend of improving profitability in the underlying 
operations. There is healthy cost control across the 
entire Group, and the Board of Directors will 
continue to focus on this in the future. The Group’s 
current situation with a strong and attractive 
pipeline in which several mandates are starting to 
materialise, together with strategic measures within 
Investment Management and Capital Markets, 
means that the Board of Directors and management 
have a clear ambition to increase both the activity 
and financial results, excluding restructuring costs, 
within the Group in 2014.

Statements relating to assessments of future 
conditions will always be associated with a 
significant degree of uncertainty and risk. All 
statements, excluding those of a historical nature, 
must therefore not be understood as any form  
of guarantee or security regarding future 
development. 

Dividends
The Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA has 
proposed that dividends shall not be paid for the 
financial year 2013. 

Distribution and transfers – Agasti Holding ASA
The Board of Directors proposes that the net 
income of NOK 7,123,000 for 2013 should be 
distributed as follows:

All amounts in thousands of NOK

Transferred to other reserves 7,123

Dividends 0

Total transfers 7,123

 
Oslo, 4 April 2014

Erling Meinich-Bache    Beatriz Malo de Molina   Merete Haugli 
Chairman of the Board    Vice Chairman of the Board  Board Member

Sissel Knutsen Hegdal   Jørgen Pleym Ulvness  
Board Member    CEO
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AGASTI GROUP 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - IFRS - FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

All amounts in thousands of NOK Note 2013 2012

Operating revenues 2 420 856 365 870

Wages and salaries 3 254 372 250 953

Depreciations 6,7 18 431 23 155

Write-downs 6,7 8 823 405

Other operating expenses 4 143 163 147 501

Total operating expenses 424 789 422 014

Operating earnings -3 933 -56 144

Financial income 4 19 194 6 669

Financial expenses 4 12 075 10 545

Net financial items 7 119 -3 876

Net income before taxes 3 186 -60 020

Income taxes 15 5 435 -6 146

NET INCOME -2 249 -53 874

Other revenues and expenses

Currency translation differences 755 357

Total Other revenues and expenses 755 357

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME OF THE YEAR -1 494 -53 517

Earnings per share 10 -0,01 -0,21

Earnings per share - diluted 10 -0,01 -0,21

Effective tax rate 170,6 % 10,2 %
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AGASTI GROUP    
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (BALANCE) - IFRS - AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2013 

All amounts in thousands of NOK Note 2013 2012

ASSETS

Non-current assets  

Goodwill 6 42 160 8 823

Other intangible assets 6 30 334 34 814

Deferred tax assets 15 47 314 49 560

Fixed assets 7 7 477 7 701

Other financial assets 5 15 209 13 916

Total assets 142 494 114 814

Current assets

Other financial assets 5, 13 43 606 32 192

Current receivables 5, 12 91 333 56 355

Bank deposits 5 141 329 135 150

Total current assets 276 268 223 697

TOTAL ASSETS 418 762 338 511

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 10 52 825 46 356

Share premium 66 964 27 786

Other paid-in equity 16 218 14 953

Total paid-in equity 136 007 89 095

Other equity 93 743 95 237

Total retained earnings 93 743 95 237

Total equity 229 750 184 332

Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities 5,8 35 266 0

Total other long-term liabilities 35 266 0

Accounts payable 5 13 892 6 988

Liabilities to credit institutions 5, 19 10 172 20 840

Tax payable 15 564 0

Taxes and public fees payable 17 187 17 616

Provisions and other current liabilities 14 111 931 108 734

Total current liabilities 153 746 154 178

Total liabilities 189 012 154 178

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 418 762 338 511
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AGASTI GROUP   
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY - IFRS - FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

All amounts in thousands of NOK
Share

capital
Share  

premium
Other paid  

in equity
Conversion 
difference 1)

Losses/
Other

equity
Equity
capital

Balance as per 01 January 2012 46 356 27 786 12 234 5 312 143 442 235 131

Net income -53 874 -53 874

Conversion difference 357 357

Profit for the year 0 0 0 357 -53 874 -53 517

Deposits from and payments to owners

Stock option programme 2 719 2 719

Balance as per 31 December 2012 46 356 27 786 14 953 5 669 89 568 184 332

Balance as per 01 January 2013 46 356 27 786 14 953 5 669 89 568 184 332

Net income -2 249 -2 249

Conversion difference 755 755

Profit for the year 0 0 0 755 -2 249 -1 494

Deposits from and payments to owners

Rights issue March 2013 630 3 570 4 200

Rights issue August 2013 5 600 36 400 41 999

Rights issue August 2013 159 1 016 1 175

Rights issue November 2013 81 609 690

Rights issue expenses -2 417 -2 417

Stock option programme 1 265 1 265

Balance as at 31 December 2013 52 825 66 964 16 218 6 424 87 319 229 750

   

1)  The translation difference is attributed to the translation of the assets and liabilities from SEK to NOK of Navexa  
Securities AB and Navigea Securities AS’, Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS’ and Agasti Business Services AS’ Swedish  
branches and the translation of the assets and liabilities from USD to NOK from Obligo Real Estate, Inc.
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AGASTI GROUP
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW - IFRS - FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

All amounts in thousands of NOK Note 2013 2012

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income before tax expenses 3 186 -60 020

Taxes paid in reporting period -3 684 -26 344

Depreciations/Write-downs 6,7 27 254 23 560

Write-downs of financial assets 0 3 350

Stock options charged against income 3 1 265 2 719

Change in current receivables -36 271 10 091

Change in accounts payable 6 905 -9 099

Change in other accruals -7 079 -85 943

Net cash flow from operating activities -8 424 -141 687

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for aquisition of fixed assets 6,7 -4 348 -1 565

Received payments from sale of fixed assets 6,7 0 5 324

Payments for aquisition of intangible assets 6,7 -9 380 -18 432

Payments in connection with investment in convertible bonds 5 0 -14 461

Net payments upon investment in subsidiaries, net of cash 1) 3 318 0

Payments for aquisition of other financial assets 13 -5 766 -19 425

Net cash flow from investing activities -16 176 -48 559

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from equity (net proceeds) 2) 41 447 0

Net cash flow from financing activities 41 447 0

Bank deposits, short-term investments, etc. as at 01.01. 114 310 304 556

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 0 0

Bank deposits, short-term investments, bank overdrafts,  
etc. as at 31.12. 131 157 114 310

Unused overdraft facilities 49 828 9 160

Bank deposits and investments 141 329 135 150

Overdraft facilities -10 172 -20 840

Net bank deposits, bank overdrafts etc. as per 31.12.13 131 157 114 310

1)   A positive net cash flow from investment in subsidiaries due to a sales credit as part of the agreement, additional  
fees that will not be paid until later, and part of the settlement were made by issuing own shares. 

2)   NOK 4,2 million of proceeds from equity were used as part of the settlement when purchasing Agasti Wunderlich 
Capital Markets AS, and do not have a cash flow effect.
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NOTES ON THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

Note 1 Accounting principles 

1.1 Basis for preparation of the consolidated 
accounts
The consolidated accounts are presented in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and interpretations from the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), 
which are approved by the EU as of 31 December 
2013. 

The annual accounts consist of the Agasti Group’s 
income statement, balance sheet, consolidated 
changes in equity, cash flow and notes. The annual 
accounts constitute a whole and are prepared using 
the historical cost principle, with the exception of 
financial instruments, which are entered at fair value 
through profit or loss which is entered at fair value.

The head office of Agasti Holding ASA has the 
address P.O.Box 1753 Vika, 0122 Oslo. The annual 
accounts were submitted by the Board on 4 April 
2014.

The accounting principles described below are used 
consistently for all the periods presented in the 
consolidated accounts.

1.2 Consolidation principles
The consolidated accounts include the parent 
company Agasti Holding ASA and the companies 
that Agasti Holding ASA controls. Such control 
exists when the parent company has a decisive 
direct or indirect influence on the financial and 
operational management of the subsidiaries, and 
thereby benefits from their activities. In the 
assessment of control, the potential voting rights 
that may be immediately exercised or converted are 
taken into account.

The financial accounts of the subsidiaries are 
included in the consolidated accounts from the 
point at which control is achieved and until its 
cessation. Companies that are included in the 
consolidation are listed in note 9. Intercompany 
accounts and any unrealised gains and losses or 
revenue and expenses arising from transactions 
within the Group, are eliminated during the 
preparation of the consolidated accounts.  

The consolidated accounts have been drawn up on 
the basis of uniform principles by applying the same 

accounting principles in the subsidiaries as in the 
parent company. Shares in subsidiaries are eliminated. 

1.3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
The preparation of the consolidated accounts entails 
that the management makes estimates and 
judgements and assumptions that have an impact 
upon the effect of the application of the accounting 
principles. This will therefore affect the entered 
amounts for assets and liabilities, income and costs. 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and various 
other factors, including expectations of future 
events, which are believed to be reasonable on the 
balance sheet date. Changes in accounting 
estimates are entered in the period in which the 
estimates are changed, and in all future periods that 
are affected.

Share-based payment/share options
When valuing options, there is uncertainty linked  
to the estimation of the assumption of risk free 
interest rate at the time of redemption. See Note 3.

Estimated impairment of Goodwill 
See Note 6 for information about goodwill. Goodwill 
constituted approx. 10 per cent of the Group’s 
balance sheet at the end of 2013.

fair value of financial instruments
Fair value of financial instruments that are not 
traded in an active market is determined using 
various valuation techniques. The Group evaluates 
and selects methods and assumptions that, 
wherever possible, are based on the market 
conditions on the balance sheet date. In valuing 
financial instruments for which observable data is 
not available, the Group will make assumptions 
about what the market will use as the basis for the 
valuation of similar financial instruments. The 
valuations require a high level of discretion in the 
calculation of liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. 
A change in the mentioned factors can affect the 
determined fair value of the Group’s financial 
instruments. See also Note 5 Financial instruments.

Income tax, including deferred tax assets
The Group is subject to income taxes within  
Norway, Sweden and the USA. Significant 
judgement is required in determining income tax  
in the consolidated accounts, including assessments 
of the recognition of deferred tax assets.



AgAsti Holding AsA 18

NOTES ON THE cONSOLIDATED AccOUNTS

The Group recognises deferred tax assets with the 
amount likely to be utilised against future taxable 
income. Comprehensive assessments must be 
carried out in order to determine the amount that 
can be recognised, including the expected date of 
utilisation and the level of positive tax results, as well 
as tax planning strategies and the existence of 
taxable temporary differences.

contingencies
As a consequence of the operations in Norway and 
Sweden, the Agasti Group will regularly be part in  
a number of legal disputes. Any effects on the 
accounts are assessed in each individual instance. 
The Group evaluates, among other things, the 
likelihood of an unfavourable outcome. See Note 14 
Provisions and other current liabilities.

1.4 Currency
Transactions in foreign currency are converted using 
the exchange rate in effect at the time of the 
transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency 
are converted to Norwegian kroner by using the 
exchange rate on the balance sheet date. The 
exchange rate difference as a result of conversion is 
included in the income statement. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities that are measured at historical 
cost in foreign currency are converted at the 
exchange rate at the time of the transaction. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities with a nominal 
value in foreign currencies, which are stated at fair 
value, are translated into Norwegian kroner by using 
the exchange rate in effect on the date the fair value 
was determined.

1.5 Conversion of foreign units
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, 
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising 
from consolidation, are translated into Norwegian 
kroner at the foreign exchange rates in effect on the 
balance sheet date. The revenues and expenses of 
foreign operations are translated into Norwegian 
kroner at rates approximating the foreign exchange 
rates in effect on the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange differences arising from 
translation are specified as a translation difference in 
the equity. They are recognised in the profit and loss 
statement upon disposal of the foreign unit.

1.6 Revenue 
Income is entered in the accounts when it is earned. 
Entry of income normally occurs at the time of 
delivery for the sale of services.  

Commission earnings on subscriptions to funds, 
insurance (unit-linked), real estate shares, and shares 
in shipping, private equity, infrastructure and 
renewable energy companies are recognised when 
written agreements have been entered into with 
clients and clients’ payment of the agreed 
subscription amount and commission have been 
confirmed. Revenue from new subscriptions to 
structured products is recognised when binding 
agreements are entered into with clients. Insertion 
fees are recognised when the client adds new funds 
to the portfolio account.

Recurring revenues and management fees are 
recognised on an on-going basis, based on 
estimated income. The estimate builds upon a 
calculated average of the portfolio with the fund 
provider, and the relevant commission rate 
according to the agreement. Consultancy and 
portfolio account fees are calculated on the basis of 
the client’s holdings and recognised on an on-going 
basis. 

The fees for the syndication of real estate, shipping, 
private equity, infrastructure and renewable energy 
companies etc. are recognised when the fees are 
accrued according to agreements. 

Performance-based fees are recognised at the time 
of liquidation of the portfolios. 

The structure margin from structured products is 
recognised when underlying security instruments 
are traded and margins are finally determined.

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive 
payment is determined. Interest income and other 
financial income is recognised when earned.

1.7 Expenses
Expenses are generally accrued in line with receipt 
of goods and services. Commission-based 
remuneration to advisors is recognised when a 
payment commitment arises in accordance with 
agreements and it is probable that the remuneration 
will be paid. Interest income and other financial 
income is recognised when earned.

1.8 Provisions
A provision is entered when the Group has a liability 
as a result of a previous incident, where it is probable 
that an economic settlement will occur as a result of 
this liability and the amount’s size can be reliably 
measured. If the effect is significant, the provision is 
calculated by discounting the expected future cash 
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flow with a discount rate before tax, which  
reflects the market’s price setting of the time value 
of money and, if relevant, risks specifically linked  
to the liability. 

Restructuring provisions are entered when the 
Group has approved a detailed and formal 
restructuring plan, and the restructuring has either 
started or been announced. 

1.9 Defined contribution pension schemes
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
pension schemes are entered as expenses in the 
income statement when incurred.

1.10 Share-based payment transactions
Employee stock options are measured at fair value 
at the time of distribution. The stock options are 
valued according to the Black & Scholes model. The 
calculated value is recognised as a personnel costs, 
with a corresponding entry in other paid-in equity. 
The cost is divided over the period until the 
employees become unconditionally entitled to the 
stock options. 

1.11 Main rules for valuation and classification of 
assets and liabilities
Assets that are expected to be realised in the 
Group’s ordinary operating cycle or within twelve 
months after the balance sheet date, and assets in 
the form of cash or cash equivalents, are classified 
as current assets. All other assets are classified as 
fixed assets.

Liabilities that are expected to be settled in the 
Group’s normal operating cycle, which fall due for 
settlement within twelve months after the balance 
sheet date, or where the Group does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least twelve months after the balance 
sheet date, are classified as current liabilities. All 
other assets are classified as non-current liabilities. 

1.12 Fixed assets
Fixed assets are entered at cost price with 
deductions for accumulated depreciations and 
write-downs. Fixed assets are depreciated linearly 
over the asset’s expected lifetime, taking into 
account any residual value. The estimated economic 
lifetime is as follows: 
•  Machines and equipment   3 - 7 years
•  Fixtures and fittings   4 - 7 years

Leasehold improvements are classified as fixed 
assets and included in fixed assets in the balance 

sheet. Leasehold improvements are depreciated 
over the lease’s lifetime. 

Expenses incurred in replacing parts of property, 
plant and equipment are entered in the balance 
sheet as the value for an item of property, plant and 
equipment when such expenses are expected to 
give the company future economic benefits related 
to the replacements, and the costs for the replaced 
parts can be reliably measured. All other expenses 
are entered in the accounts in the period they are 
incurred. 

When parts of equipment have different economic 
lifetimes, they are entered in the accounts as 
separate parts. Residual value is reassessed annually 
if this is significant.

The values of fixed assets entered in the balance 
sheet, which are depreciated, are tested for a 
reduction in value if indications of such exist. If an 
asset’s entered value is higher than the asset’s 
recoverable value, a loss of value is entered in the 
accounts.  The recoverable value is the highest of 
the net sales value and the fixed asset’s use value. 
Fixed assets are grouped and assessed at the lowest 
level for measurement of cash flow.
 
If there is an identifiable need for write-down, the 
asset is valued at the lower of the value entered in 
the balance sheet and the recoverable value.

1.13 Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are entered  
in the balance sheet at cost. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired through acquisitions is recorded  
in the balance sheet at fair value. Entered intangible 
assets are entered at cost, reduced for any 
depreciations and write-downs. Internally generated 
intangible assets, excluding development costs 
included in the balance sheet, are not included in  
the sheet, but expensed on an on-going basis. The 
economic lifetime is either definite or indefinite. 
Intangible assets with a definite lifetime are 
depreciated over the economic lifetime and tested 
for write-downs in the event of indications of such. 
The depreciation method and period is assessed  
at least once a year. Changes in the depreciation 
method or period are treated as estimated 
changes. Intangible assets with indefinite lifetimes 
are tested for write-downs at least once a year, 
either individually or as a part of a cash flow 
generating unit. Intangible assets with an indefinite 
lifetime are not depreciated. The lifetime is assessed 
annually, with consideration of whether the 
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assumption of an indefinite lifetime is justifiable.  
If not, the change to definite lifetime is handled 
prospectively.   

Patents and licences
Amounts paid for patents and licences are entered 
in the balance sheet and depreciated linearly over 
the expected useful life. The expected lifetime for 
patents and licences varies from five to ten years. 

Software
Expenses linked to the purchase of new software are 
entered in the balance sheet as an intangible asset,  
if these expenses are not a part of the original 
hardware cost. Software is normally depreciated 
linearly over four to five years. Expenses incurred  
as a result of maintaining or upholding the future 
benefit of software are expensed if the changes in 
the software do not increase the future economic 
benefit of the software.

1.14 Business combinations
Business combinations are entered in accordance 
with the purchase method. Transaction expenses  
are entered when they are incurred. 
 
The consideration of an acquisition is measured at 
fair value at the date of acquisition and consists of 
cash and issued shares in Agasti Holding ASA

In the event of acquisition of a company, all acquired 
assets and liabilities are assessed for classification 
and mapping in accordance with contract terms, 
economic circumstances and relevant conditions  
at the time of acquisition. Acquired assets and 
liabilities are entered in the balance sheet at fair 
value in the opening balance. Allocation of goodwill 
in the event of business combinations is changed if 
new information regarding fair value applicable on 
the date for takeover of control is obtained. The 
allocation can be changed up to 12 months after the 
date of acquisition. Minority interests are calculated 
at the minority’s share of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities. Selection of the method used is carried 
out for each individual business combination.  

In the event of a stepwise acquisition, previous 
ownership stakes are measured at fair value at the 
time of acquisition. Value changes on previous 
ownership stakes are entered in the profit or loss 
accounts.
 
Goodwill is calculated as the sum of the 
consideration  and the entered value of minority 
interests and the fair value of previously owned 

shares, with deductions for the net value of 
identifiable assets and liabilities calculated at the 
date of acquisition. Goodwill is not depreciated, but 
tested for a reduction in value at least once a year, or 
in the event of an indication of a reduction in value. 
In connection with an assessment of write-downs, 
goodwill is allocated to the cash flow generating 
units or groups of cash flow generating units that 
are expected to receive synergies from the business 
combination. The part of the equity’s fair value that 
exceeds the consideration (negative goodwill) is 
posted as revenue immediately at the time of 
acquisition.

1.15 Financial instruments
Financial instruments are classified in the following 
categories: fair value with changes through profit  
or loss, hold to maturity and loans and receivables. 
Financial assets with fixed or determinable cash 
flows and specific maturity dates, where the Group 
has the intention and ability to hold the investment 
to maturity, are classified as investments held to 
maturity, with the exception of the instruments that 
the organisation designates as at fair value with 
value changes through profit and loss or available 
for sale, or which meet the criteria for entry in the 
loans and receivables category. Financial assets with 
fixed or determinable cash flows which are not listed 
on an active market are classified as loans and 
receivables, with the exception of instruments which 
the Group has designated as at fair value with value 
changes through profit and loss. Financial liabilities 
that do not come under the category of held for 
trading, and which are not designated as at fair 
value with value changes through profit and loss,  
are classified as other liabilities.

Financial instruments held to maturity are included 
in financial fixed assets unless the maturity date is 
within 12 months of the balance sheet date. Other 
financial instruments are presented as current assets 
if the management has decided to dispose of the 
instrument within 12 months of the balance sheet 
date. Investments held to maturity, loans and 
receivables and other liabilities are entered at 
amortised cost. Changes in fair value of financial 
instruments which are designated as at fair value 
with value changes through profit and loss are 
entered and presented as financial income/
expenses.

The fair value of financial instruments that are 
traded on active markets is determined at the end of 
the reporting period with reference to listed market 
prices or prices from traders of financial instruments 
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(bid price for long positions and offer price for short 
positions), without deductions for transaction costs.

For financial instruments that are not traded on an 
active market, the fair value is determined using an 
appropriate valuation method. Such valuation 
methods include using recent arm’s length market 
transactions between well-informed and willing 
parties, if such transactions are available, reference 
to the current fair value of another instrument that is 
practically the same, discounted cash flow analysis 
or other valuation models. 

An analysis of the fair value of financial instruments 
and further details about the measurement of this is 
provided in notes 5 and 20.

1.16 Income tax
Income tax consists of tax for the period and the 
change in deferred tax. Liabilities and deferred tax 
assets are calculated on all differences between 
accounting and tax values of assets and liabilities 
with the exception of:

•   Initial recognition of goodwill,
•   Initial recognition of an asset or liability in  

a transaction that
•   Is not a business combination and, 
•   at the time of the transaction affects neither 

accounting profit nor taxable income (tax loss) 
•   Temporary differences relating to investments in 

subsidiaries, associate companies or joint ventures 
when the Group controls when the temporary 
differences will be reversed and this is not 
expected to occur in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised when it is 
probable that the company will have sufficient 
taxable profit in future periods to benefit from the 
tax asset. The companies recognise previously 
unrecognised deferred tax assets to the extent that 
it is probable that the company will be able to make 
use of the deferred tax asset. The company will also 
reduce deferred tax assets to the extent that the 
company no longer considers it probable that it can 
utilise the deferred tax asset.

Liabilities and deferred tax assets are measured 
based on the expected future tax rates for the 
companies in the Group for which temporary 
differences have arisen.

Liabilities and deferred tax assets are recognised  
at nominal value and are classified as fixed assets 
(non-current liabilities) in the balance sheet.

Tax for the period and deferred tax assets or liabilities 
are recognised directly against equity to the extent 
that the tax items relate to equity transactions.

1.17 Leasing agreements
The Agasti Group’s leasing agreements are entered in 
the accounts in accordance with the following rules:
 
Operating leasing agreements
Leases where the most significant risks and returns 
associated with ownership of the asset are not 
acquired by the company are classified as operating 
lease agreements. Lease payments are classified as 
an operating expense, and are recognised linearly 
over the contract period. 

1.18 Segment reporting
The company has segment reporting based on 
business areas. This grouping coincides with the way 
in which the Group management receives reported 
figures and evaluates them. The accounting 
principles for segment reporting are the same as  
for the Group accounting in general. Transactions 
between segments are valued using the arm’s length 
principle.

1.19 Events after balance sheet date
New information after the balance sheet date, of the 
company’s financial position at the balance sheet 
date, is included in the annual accounts. Events after 
the balance sheet date that do not affect the 
company’s financial position at the balance sheet 
date, but which will affect the company’s future 
financial position are disclosed if they are significant.

1.20 Changes in accounting principles and notes

changes in accounting principles
The accounting principles applied are consistent 
with those applied in the previous accounting 
period, except for the changes in IFRS, which have 
been implemented by the Group in the current 
accounting period. Below are listed the changes that 
have been relevant for the Group in the IFRS 
effective for the 2013 accounts, and the effect this 
has had on the consolidated annual accounts.

The following new and amended accounting 
standards and interpretations were first applied in 
2013:

IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements
The changes to IAS 1 require that the items in a 
statement of other comprehensive income (OCI) 
should be grouped in two categories. Items that may 
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be reclassified to profit or loss at a future date  
(e.g. the net gain on securing of net investment, 
exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operation into the reporting currency, net change  
in cash flow security and net gains or losses on 
financial assets classified as available for sale) to  
be presented separately from items that will never 
be reclassified (e.g. actuarial gains and losses 
associated with defined benefit plans). The changes 
affect only the presentation and have had no impact 
on the financial position or results.

IfRS 13 fair value measurement  
The standard provides principles and guidance  
for the measurement of fair value for assets and 
liabilities that standards require or allow to be 
measured at fair value. The standard says nothing 
about when fair value shall be utilised, but this 
follows from other standards.

The change has no significant effect on the Group’s 
assets and liabilities. 

1.21 Implementation of IFRS
The standards and interpretations adopted until the 
time of preparing the Group accounts, but where 
the effective date is in the future are specified below. 
The Group’s intention is to implement the relevant 
changes on the effective date, provided that the EU 
approves the changes prior to preparation of the 
Group accounts. 

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets 
The change entails that information must be given 
about the recoverable amount of assets that have 
been written down, if this has been determined at 
fair value reduced for sales costs. The change must 
be seen in the context of IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement. The changes apply for fiscal years 
starting on 01 January 2014 or later. The change is 
not expected to have any significant impact on the 
Group accounts.

IfRS 9 financial Instruments
IFRS 9 currently comprises the first and second 
phases of the IASB’s work to replace the current IAS 
39. The first phase deals with the classification and 
measurement of financial assets and liabilities, while 
the second phase deals with hedge accounting. The 
final phases of this project relate to measurement  
at amortised cost and the write-down of financial 
assets. The date on which IFRS 9 will come into 
effect has been postponed indefinitely, and it is 
expected that the standard will be given a 
mandatory effective date for financial years that 

start on 1 January 2018 at the earliest. The Group will 
evaluate the potential effects of IFRS 9 in 
accordance with the other phases, as soon as the 
final standard including all phases is published.

IfRS 10 consolidated financial Statements
IFRS 10 replaces the parts of IAS 27 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements that deal with 
consolidated financial statements and SIC-12 
Consolidation - Consolidation - Special Purpose 
Entities. IFRS 10 establishes a single control model 
that applies to all entities including special purpose 
entities (SPE). The introduced amendments to IFRS 
10 require management to exercise a significant 
degree of discretion in determining which entities 
are controlled by the parent company, where all enti-
ties that are controlled shall be consolidated. 
Whether control exists is a deciding factor in 
whether entities shall be consolidated in accordance 
with IFRS 10. Control over another entity exists when 
the investor is exposed or has rights to variable 
returns from involvement in the entity, and the 
ability to use power over the investee to control the 
activities of the entity that significantly affect the 
returns. Within the EU/EEA, IFRS 10 applies for fiscal 
years starting on 01 January 2014 or later. The 
change is not expected to have any significant 
impact on the Group accounts.

1.22 Annual improvement project 2010-2012

IfRS 2 Share-based Payment 
Vesting and service conditions are defined in order 
to clarify various conditions, including the following:

•   A vesting condition must contain a service 
condition.

•   A performance target must be fulfilled while the 
counterparty performs the service.

•   A performance target can be related to the 
business or activities of an entity, or an entity in 
the same group.

•   A performance target may be a market condition 
or a non-market condition.

•   If the counterparty, regardless of the reason, stops 
supplying services during the vesting period, the 
performance target is not fulfilled.

IfRS 8 Operating Segments 
Operating segments may be aggregated if 
aggregation is consistent with the core principles of 
the standard, if the segments have similar economic 
characteristics, and if they are similar in other 
qualitative aspects. If operating segments are 
aggregated, the entity must disclose the economic 
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characteristics (such as sales and gross margins) 
used in the assessment of whether the segments are 
similar.

The amendment clarifies that the reconciliation of 
segment assets against total assets is required only 
if the reconciliation is reported to the chief operating 
decision maker, as for segment liabilities.

IfRS 13 fair value measurement 
The IASB clarifies that non-interest bearing 
short-term receivables and payables may be 
measured at the invoice amount when the effect  
of discounting is insignificant.

Note 2 Segment information

Business-related segments
IFRS 8 requires that the Group use a management 
approach for the identification of the segments.  
The information reported is that which the Group 
management uses internally to evaluate the 
segments’ results and to decide how resources  
shall be allocated to the segments.

For internal and external reporting purposes, the 
Group uses business-related segments. The Agasti 
Group currently carries out business subject to the 
Norwegian Securities Trading Act, with, among 
other things, distribution, advisory services, 
execution of orders, trading and settlement of 
investors’ portfolios of financial products in the 
Wealth Management segment. The Markets 
segment includes the Group’s operations within 
corporate finance, institutional sales, product 
development, the organisation of projects, 
companies and structured products, as well  
as the administration of investment portfolios.

The Group uses three cost groups: variable, activity 
based and fixed costs. These are further divided into 
costs linked to salaries and personnel, and other 
costs. Variable costs include costs that are closely 
related to sales income, as well as bonuses and other 
performance based remuneration of the Group’s 
employees. Activity based salary and personnel 
costs are linked to recruitment, personnel 
development and other costs linked to personnel 
related activities. Other activity based operating 
expenses cover various market activities, client 
recruitment, travel, lawyer and consultant fees, and 
various costs that vary in relation to the Group’s 
activity level. Fixed costs consist of fixed salaries  
for the Group’s employees, rental of premises and 
equipment, auditor’s fees, contractual IT costs, 
insurance and other costs related to agreements 
and that to a lesser degree vary with short-term 
fluctuations in the Group’s activity level. The Group 
reports the net financial income for the segments,  
in line with internal reporting routines. 

The Group changed the segment reporting during 
2011. Business-related segments are more 
descriptive of the Group’s activities than 
geographical segments. Under Other activities/
Eliminations, the Group administration and Group 
internal administrative services within finance and 
economy, personnel, IT, markets and compliance  
are reported on, in addition to costs relating to  
Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS and Acta Asset 
Management AS. Other activities normally has  
no external income, but covers costs through 
providing services to other segments through 
internal service agreements, entered into under 
arm’s length conditions. Financial information is 
given in the table below. 
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Note 2 Segment information (continued) 
Wealth  

Management Markets
Other activities/

Eliminations Group total
All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Transaction revenues 19 932 17 112 38 639 12 237 -5 -66 58 566 29 283
Fixed revenues 260 655 249 473 101 618 87 110 16 5 362 289 336 587
Total operating revenues 280 587 266 584 140 258 99 347 11 -62 420 856 365 870

Variable salary and personnel expenses 5 608 33 264 10 149 534 6 627 83 22 384 33 881
Other variable operating expenses 202 1 536 6 1 389 4 1 205 212 4 130
Total variable expenses 5 810 34 800 10 156 1 924 6 630 1 288 22 596 38 012

Activity-based salary and personnel 
expenses

4 922 9 033 1 479 3 448 959 905 7 361 13 387

Other activity-based operating expenses 23 778 42 389 13 655 11 832 18 169 20 552 55 602 74 773
Total activity-based expenses 28 700 51 422 15 134 15 281 19 129 21 457 62 963 88 160

Fixed salary and personnel expenses 133 934 147 266 59 024 29 354 31 460 23 488 224 419 200 108
Other fixed operating expenses 106 131 87 413 36 282 21 669 -54 857 -36 907 87 557 72 174
Total fixed expenses 240 065 234 679 95 307 51 022 -23 397 -13 419 311 975 272 283

Depreciations 3 023 4 031 156 466 15 252 18 658 18 431 23 155
Write-downs 0 405 0 0 8 823 0 8 823 405

Operating earnings 2 988 -58 753 19 505 30 655 -26 426 -28 046 -3 933 -56 144
Financial income 5 061 5 597 8 262 367 -2 339 705 10 984 6 669
Financial expenses 5 161 9 517 5 747 1 875 -7 043 -847 3 865 10 545
Net financial items -100 -3 920 2 515 -1 508 4 704 1 552 7 119 -3 876
Income taxes 1 813 277 4 966 771 -1 344 -7 194 5 435 -6 146
Net income 1 075 -62 950 17 054 28 376 -20 378 -19 300 -2 249 -53 874
Effective tax rate 63 % 0 % 23 % 3 % 6 % 27 % 171 % 10 %

Other information

Segment assets
Non-current assets 21 269 25 277 102 513 15 077 18 712 74 460 142 494 114 814
Other financial assets 628 0 2 145 0 40 833 32 192 43 606 32 192
Current receivables 81 416 87 681 62 271 18 066 -52 354 -49 393 91 333 56 355
Bank deposits 53 737 85 231 51 647 18 558 35 945 31 361 141 329 135 150
Total assets 157 051 198 189 218 576 51 702 43 135 88 620 418 762 338 511

Segment liabilities
Taxes and public fees payable 11 365 11 992 2 889 2 669 2 932 2 955 17 187 17 616
Other current liabilities 84 308  84 583  102 955  38 990  -50 704  12 989 136 559  136 562 
Total liabilities 95 674  96 576  105 844  41 659  -47 771  15 944 153 746  154 178 

Investments in fixed assets   2 408 19 520 356 10 680 18 820 13 608 19 195

Geographical areas 

Income statement Norway Sweden
Other activities/

Eliminations Group total
Total operating revenues 275 114 237 354 145 730 128 577 11 -62 420 856 365 870

Balances
Total fixed assets 108 970 24 977 14 812 15 377 18 712 74 460 142 494 114 814
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Note 3 Salary costs, total employees, remuneration, loans to employees, etc. 
   
All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 

Salaries 177 969 171 595

Bonus/profit sharing 16 239 12 745

Pension costs, defined contribution plans 10 712 6 323

Estimated benefit options scheme 915 2 770

National insurance contributions 34 652 34 487

Other benefits 13 885 23 032

Total 254 372 250 953

Average total full-time equivalent positions 219 228

Benefits paid to employees in leading positions:  

All amounts in thousands of NOK Period Salary 1)

Contri-
bution 
based 

pension 

Bonus/
profit 

sharing
Other

benefits

Jørgen Pleym Ulvness 2) CEO 2013  2 825 246  64 

Agasti Holding ASA 2012  1 700  83 

Alfred Ydstebø 3) Chief Executive Officer (from Aug 2012 
to Dec 2013)

2013  2 850  893  118 

Agasti Holding ASA 2012  1 150  17  191 

Christian Tunge 4) Chief Financial Officer 2013  2 228  789  33 

Agasti Holding ASA 2012  2 296  51 639  17 

Svein Erik Lilleland Chief Executive Officer (from June 2013) 2013  906 

Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS 2012

Bjarne Eggesbø Chief Executive Officer (from April 2013) 2013  1 159  35  393  86 

Obligo Investment Management AS 2012

Kjersti Aksnes Gjesdahl Chief Executive Officer (from April 2013) 2013  1 396  55 

Navigea Securities AS 2012

1)  Salaries etc. are shown for the period in which employees in leading positions have been in the post during the  
financial year.

2)  Took up position as CEO on 12 December 2013.  Ulvness was employed as Deputy CEO of Agasti Holding AS until 12 
December 2013, but salary and other benefits up until 1 July 2013 were paid from other companies within the Group.

3)  Left position as CEO of Agasti Holding ASA on 12 Desember 2013.      
4)  Left position as CFO on 11 February 2014. Christian Dovland took up the position as the new CFO on the same day.

Benefits to employees in leading positions
The CEO’s remuneration is determined by the Boards remuneration committee. The Board’s remuneration 
committee sets guidelines for remuneration of other employees in senior positions, including fixed salaries 
and the principles for and scope of bonus schemes.  

Employees in leading positions have ordinary bonus agreements with annually fixed limits, and normally 
limited to between 40 and 200 per cent of basic salary, depending on position. The estimated accrued 
bonus is expensed on an on-going basis.
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Note 3 Salary costs, total employees, remuneration, loans to employees, etc. (continued)

Some employees in senior positions receive severence pay during the notice period if dismissed without 
good reason as a result of large changes in tasks, e.g. due to takeover or fusion:

Employee in leading 
position Company Position

Period of 
notice

Pay after 
termination of 
employment

Jørgen Pleym Ulvness Agasti Capital Markets AS CEO 6 months 12 months

Christian Tunge 1) Agasti Holding ASA Chief Financial Officer 6 months 12 months

Christian Dovland 2) Agasti Holding ASA Chief Financial Officer 6 months 6 months

Kjersti Aksnes Gjesdahl Navigea Securities AS CEO 6 months 12 months

Svein Erik Lilleland Agasti Wunderlich Securities AS CEO 3 months 12 months

Bjarne Eggesbø Obligo Investment Management 
AS

CEO 6 months 12 months

1) Left the position on 11 February 2014.  
2) Took up position on 11 February 2014.  

Benefits to employees in leading positions
The Agasti Group established a defined contribution 
scheme for all permanent employees in Norway and 
Sweden with effect from 1 January 2005. In Norway, 
the contribution rate for 2013 was four per cent of fixed 
salaries between 1G and 6G and six per cent of fixed 
salaries between 6G and 12G. In relation to the 
requirements regarding mandatory occupational 
pensions (OTP) that came into force on 1 July 2006, 
Agasti Group has a pension plan which exceeds the 
minimum requirement of two per cent of salary over 1G 
up to 12G. In 2013, the contribution percentage for the 
employees in Sweden was five per cent of fixed salary. 

In the period 2009-2012 the Board of Directors of 
Agasti Holding ASA allocated options in accordance 
with a three-year incentive scheme that covered all 
employees within the Group. All the options in 
accordance with this scheme have expired at the 
time of adoption of the annual accounts. In 2012, the 
Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA adopted 
an incentive scheme for selected managers in the 
Group. In 2014, this scheme was replaced by a new 
option scheme for selected managers within the 
Group. The scheme is part of a long-term incentive 
scheme for Agasti managers, which will contribute 
to creating positive results and attracting new 
employees as well as retaining existing employees. 
In 2013 and 2014, 1.57 million options were redeemed 
by Agasti Group employees. At the time of the 
adoption of the annual accounts, a total of 10 million 
stock options have been allocated, of which 
employees in leading positions hold 6,15 million 
stock options. The allocation is in accordance with 
the authorisation granted by the annual general 
meetings on 11 May 2010, 25 May 2011, 23 May 2012 
and 26 June 2013.

Of the options that were allocated in 2011, and which 
were still outstanding at the start of 2013, 216,000 
were redeemed during 2013. Aside from some 
three-year programmes which expired in February 
2014, the rest became due during 2013 without any 
redemption taking place. Of the options that were 
allocated in 2012, and which had an expiry date in 
2013, 1.11 million were redeemed. Of the options that 
were allocated in February 2012, and which fell due 
in their entirety in February 2014, 241,000 were 
redeemed. The redemption prices for the 
outstanding options are NOK 1.33 for the options 
allocated in August 2012, NOK 1.58 for the options 
allocated in November 2012 and NOK 2.01 for the 
options allocated in March 2014. The redemption 
price for the options shall be reduced by the 
accumulated dividends paid out during the period 
after allocation of the options. No dividend was paid 
for the financial year 2012. The Board of Directors of 
Agasti Holding ASA has proposed to the annual 
general meeting that dividends are not paid out for 
the 2013 financial year. Stock options allocated to 
selected managers in the Group during August and 
November 2012 may be redeemed by 1/3 in 2014 
and 1/3 in 2015, during specific periods in both years. 
Share options allocated to selected managers in the 
Group during March 2014 may be redeemed by 1/3 
in 2015, 1/3 in 2016 and 1/3 in 2017, during specific 
periods in all three years. At the end of 2013, the 
share price was NOK 1.87.

As at 31 December 2013, Agasti Holding ASA had 
not issued any other financial instruments that may 
result in a demand for issuing of new shares other 
than the mentioned share options.
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Note 3 Salary costs, total employees, remuneration, loans to employees, etc. (continued)

Benefits paid to Agasti Holding Board members:    

All amounts in thousands of NOK Styrehonorar 1)

Member of the Board Position at time of adoption Periode 2013 2012

Erling Meinich-Bache 2) Chairman of the Board 2013 270

Beatriz Malo de Molina 3) Vice Chairman of the Board from 29.11.13

Merete Haugli 4) Board Member 2013 440 290

Sissel Knutsen Hegdal Board Member 2013 235 133

Stein Aukner Vice Chairman of the Board until 29.11.13 220 220

Arne Reinemo Chairman of the Board 29.11-16.12.13

Paal Espen Johnsen Board Member 26.06-16.12.13

Pia Gideon Board Member until 29.11.13 200 200

Ole Peter Lorentzen Board Member until 30/04/2013 215 200

1)  Board Members’ fees etc. are shown for the period in which the Board Member has held the office.
2)  Has acted as a Board Member and Vice Chairman of the Board in parts of the stated period.
3)  Has acted as a Board Member during parts of the stated period.
4)  Has acted as Chairman of the Board during parts of the stated period. The fee includes remuneration from  
 the audit committee.

2013 2012 

Options Number VGIK1 1) Number VGIK1 1)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 12 527 533 1,73 9 504 011 3.00

Awarded during the year 0 9 930 000 1.36

Redeemed during the year 1 330 865 1,40 0

Expired during the year 2) 3 086 244 2,25 5 091 337 3.04

Terminated during the year 2 963 415 1,60 1 815 141 3.02

Outstanding at the end of the year 5 147 008 1,53 12 527 533 1.73

Redeemable at the end of the year 0 0

1)  Weighted average redemption price. Amount in NOK.
2)  The weighted average share price at the time of redemption was NOK 1.59.

The weighted average lifetime of outstanding stock options as of 31 December 2013 is 1.0 years.
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Note 3 Salary costs, total employees, remuneration, loans to employees, etc. (continued)

The weighted average redemption price of outstanding stock options at the end of the year:  

2013 2012

Maturity date Number VGIK1 1) Number VGIK1 1)

13.02.14 813 675  2,31 963 192  2,29 

15.08.14 1 750 000  1,33 2 500 000  1,33 

07.11.14 416 667  1,58 541 667  1,58 

14.08.15 1 750 000  1,33 2 500 000  1,33 

06.11.15 416 667  1,58 541 667  1,58 

Sum 5 147 008  1,53 12 527 533  1,73 

1) Weighted average redemption price. Amount in NOK.  

Agasti has used the Black & Scholes model in valuing the options. The risk-free interest rate used in the 
model is the treasury rate/government bond rate with maturity as close as possible to the allocation date. 
Due to the dilution effect on the existing shares, the price of the option is found numerically. In the model  
the following assumptions are used as the basis for new allocations:

Allocation
Expected dividend 

yield (%)
Historical  

volatility (%)

Expected lifetime 
for the stock option 

(years)

Feb 2011 3,05 67,79 2,00

Feb 2012 9,05 58,89 1,98

Aug 2012 0,00 65,76 2,00

Nov 2012 0,00 67,10 1,99

Expected volatility is calculated from historical volatility based on daily data over the same timescale as the 
term of the stock options.       

Stock options effect on the accounts:  

Description All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 

Acquisition of stock options 1 265 2 770

Change in provisions for employer’s National Insurance contributions 281 56

Net stock option income/expenses 1 546 2 826

Change in liabilities 1) 281 56

1) Refers only to employer’s National Insurance contributions  
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Note 4 Combined items in the income statement 

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Costs relating to premises 42 511 44 490
IT costs 26 907 22 633
Fees for auditors, lawyers and consultants 25 124 34 207
Telephone and postage costs 5 120 6 281
Travel activities 10 840 8 513
Printed materials and stationery 2 559 4 745
Marketing activities 6 717 9 622
VPS – The Norwegian Central Securities Depository   200
Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway 837 1 997
Payments and change in provisions for estimated compensation to clients and process 
costs relating to received customer complaints 1)

4 837 10 674

Provision for lease obligations 13 588 0
Other operating expenses 4 123 4 140
Total other operating expenses 143 163 147 501

1) In 2013, NOK 12.0 million has been paid in compensation to customers relating to customer cases. See Note 14.

Statutory audit 1 351 1 072

Other audit-related services 90 553
Assistance with tax return, etc. 27 24
Other services excluding auditing 2 425 1 972
Total auditing fee 3 893 3 621
The fees are given excluding VAT. 

Interest, bank deposits 1 383 2 754
Other financial income 17 811 3 915
Total financial income 19 194 6 669

Bank interest and fees 937 515
Other financial expenses 11 138 10 030
Total financial expenses 12 075 10 545

Of other financial expenses in 2013, NOK 1.2 million relate to allowance for liquidity premium of unlisted 
shares in various investment portfolios that Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS has acquired in connection with  
the settlement of client issues. The remaining costs are primarily related to realised and unrealised foreign 
currency gains and losses associated with invoicing and settlement in foreign currency.

Note 5 Financial instruments 

Per 31 December 2013  

All amounts in thousands of NOK 

Financial 
instruments 
at fair value 

through 
profit or loss

Financial 
instruments 

valued at 
amortised 

cost

Financial 
instruments 

held to  
maturity Total

Loans to and deposits with credit institutions    141 329    141 329 
Shares  43 606      43 606 
Notes and bonds, held until maturity    15 209  15 209 
Other assets    91 333    91 333 
Total financial assets  43 606  232 662  15 209  291 477 

      
Other long-term liabilities as a result of the acquisition 
of companies   

   35 266    35 266 

Liabilities to credit institutions    10 172    10 172 
Other liabilities   92 377   92 377
Total financial liabilities 0 137 815 0  137 815
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Note 5 Financial instruments (continued)

Per 31 December 2012  

All amounts in thousands of NOK 

Financial 
instruments 
at fair value 

through 
profit or loss

Financial 
instruments 

valued at 
amortised 

cost

Financial 
instruments 

held to  
maturity Total

Loans to and deposits with credit institutions    135 150    135 150 
Shares  32 192      32 192 
Notes and bonds, held until maturity    13 916  13 916 
Other assets   35 512    35 512 
Total financial assets  32 192  170 662  13 916  216 770 

      
Liabilities to credit institutions    20 840    20 840 
Other liabilities    73 279    73 279 
Total financial liabilities 0  94 118 0  94 118 

Financial instruments at fair value 
The fair value of unlisted financial assets has been 
estimated using valuation techniques based on 
assumptions that are not supported by observable  
market prices. The following of the company’s 
financial instruments are not valued at fair value: 
Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, 
other current receivables and bank overdrafts.  
The value of cash and cash equivalents and 
bank overdrafts entered in the balance sheet 
approximates  fair value because these instruments  
have short maturities. Similarly, the value of 
accounts  receivable and accounts payable entered  
in the balance sheet approximates fair value as 
these have ”normal” conditions.

Financial instruments at amortised cost
Most assets and liabilities in the Agasti Group’s 
balance sheet are valued at amortised cost in the 
accounts. 

Amortised cost involves valuing balance sheet 
items in accordance with original contractual  
cash flows, adjusted for any depreciation if 
necessary.  Such valuations will not always give 
 values  consistent with the market’s assessment  
of the same instruments. Deviations are due to 
 different perceptions of the macro outlook, market 
conditions,  risk and returns, as well as differences  
in access to accurate information. The value is 
estimated based on quoted prices in active markets 
where such information is available, internal models 
which calculate a theoretical value in the absence  
of active markets, or comparison between the 
 prices of instruments in the portfolio in relation  
to the most recent transaction prices.

Valuations are based on the individual instruments’ 
properties and values on the balance sheet date. 
However, these values do not include the total 
value of client relationships, market access, brands, 
organisation, personnel and structural capital. Such 
intangible assets are generally not recognised. In 
addition, most client relationships are evaluated and 
valued in context for several products as a whole, 
where products in the balance sheet are seen in 
connection with other products and services that 
the client also uses. The individual assets and liabili-
ties therefore do not provide an adequate indication 
of the overall value of the Group’s operations.

Financial instruments held until maturity
Financial instruments classified as held until 
 maturity consist of a convertible bond issued by  
the Wunderlich Investment Company, Inc. On  
5 September 2012, Agasti Capital Markets AS 
invested in a subordinated convertible bond with 
a nominal value of USD 2.5 million with an annual 
coupon rate of 7.5 per cent, payable quarterly and 
with a conversion price of USD 16 per share. The 
convertible bond has a term of less than 5 years 
with a maturity date of  31 July 2017. The bond is 
valued at amortised cost as at 31 December 2013  
at NOK 15.2 million. 
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model is used, with a normalised risk-free interest 
rate in the unit’s home market and a normalised risk 
premium of 4 per cent. Beta values are estimated for 
each assessment unit. 

The estimates are built upon central assumptions 
such as total offices, total employees in sales related 
positions, total clients, assets under management 
and expected demand for the various cash 
generating unit’s services and products, both from 
existing and new clients. 

Goodwill relating to acquisition of Axir ASA
The entered goodwill relating to the acquisition of 
Axir ASA in spring 2010 amounts to NOK 8.8 million. 
The company is continued in the Agasti Group by 
Navigea Securities AS, and in the Norwegian 
business operations. On 17 March 2014, Navigea 
Securities AS received notice from the Financial 
Supervisory Authority of the withdrawal of licences 
based on the results of an on-site inspection in April 
2013. The consequence of a decision in line with the 
notice from the FSA will result in Navigea Securities 
AS having to terminate the company’s operations 
requiring licences. The Norwegian Financial 
Supervisory Authority has not finished handling  
the case, but experience from previous cases shows 
that in most cases, decisions are made in line with 
preliminary notice. Agasti Holding has therefore 
decided to reduce goodwill by NOK 8.8 million.

Goodwill relating to acquisitions in 2013
The entered goodwill has increased by NOK 33.3 
million in 2013 and relates to the acquisition of 
companies undertaken in 2013, partially counter-
acted by the write-down of goodwill relating to  
Axir ASA. Additions in connection with business 

Goodwill is not depreciated. However, an 
impairment test is carried out each year. 

The Agasti Group undertakes on-going evaluations 
of whether the value of goodwill and other intangible 
assets with undefined lifetimes is intact, and carries 
out a complete impairment test of all business units 
at least annually. The individual goodwill items and 
intangible assets in the Agasti Group balance sheet 
are allocated to assessment units according to which 
businesses benefit from the acquired asset. Selection 
of the business unit is carried out on the basis of 
whether it is possible to identify and separate cash 
flows related to the business.

The recoverable amount is based on the expected 
business life. The business life is obtained from the 
sum of the estimated current value of expected cash 
flows for a planning period and projected cash flows 
after the planning period. The cash flows for the 
planning period are usually three years, and are based 
on budgets and plans approved by the management. 
Budgets and plans must be realistic from the 
 perspective of the historical results in the unit.

The discount rate is based on an assessment of  
the market’s required rate of return for the type  
of activities included in the assessment unit. The 
required rate of return reflects the risk in the 
activities. Impairment tests are initially carried out 
on cash flows after tax in order to use the market’s 
rate of return directly. If the test shows that there 
may be a need for impairment, a more thorough 
review of the unit is undertaken, which also includes 
an assessment of the value of cash flows before tax. 
In the assessment for the fiscal year 2013, a discount 
rate based on an adjusted capital asset pricing 

Note 6 Goodwill and other intangible assets 

Goodwill Intangible assets
All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 2013 2012
Original cost per 1 January 26 894 26 894 104 959 86 959
Additions in connection with business combinations 42 160 0 0 0
Additions by separate acquisition 0 0 9 380 18 000
Exit value 0 0 0 0
Original cost per 31 December 69 054 26 894 114 339 104 959

Accumulated depreciations per 31 December 0 0 83 498 69 637
Accumulated write-downs per 31 December 26 894 18 071 507 507
Accumulated depreciations and write-downs 
per 31 December

26 894 18 071 84 005 70 145

Entered value per 31 December  42 160 8 823 30 334 34 814
Year’s depreciations 0 0 13 860 17 722
Year’s write-downs 8 823 0 0 405
Economic lifetime 4-5 years
Depreciation plan  Linear
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Note 6 Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of investments in the 
standard systems Abasec (portfolio system), 
Microsoft Dynamics (CRM system), MAP (tool/
application for asset allocation) and Microsoft 
Dynamics AX (ERP system). The software is entered 
in the balance sheet at original cost, with the 
addition of external expenses for preparing the 
software for use, less accumulated depreciations. 
The expected economic lifetime and depreciation 
period is five years.

combinations comprised NOK 42.2 million in 2013, 
and relate to the acquisition of the companies 
ABGSC Real Estate AS, Wunderlich Securities AS 
and RS Platou Fund Management AS with 
associated companies. No impairment tests have 
been carried out on newly acquired goodwill 
beyond purchase price allocation. Cash-flow 
generating units linked to acquired companies are 
linked to the Markets segment. Refer to note 8 of the 
Group accounts which discusses the above-men-
tioned acquisitions.

Note 7 Fixed assets

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Leasehold improvements
Original cost per 1 January 28 671 28 170
Additions in connection with business combinations  0 0
Additions by separate acquisition 933 502
Exit value 0 0
Original cost per 31 December 29 604  28 671 

Accumulated depreciations per 31 December 31 074 29 808
Disposals - accumulated depreciations -3 488 -3 488
Accumulated write-downs per 31 December 2 217 2 217
Disposals – accumulated write-downs -1 688 -1 688
Accumulated depreciations and write-downs per 31 December 28 114 26 848

Entered value per 31 December 1 491 1 823
Year’s depreciations 1 265 1 786
Year’s write-downs 0 0
Economic lifetime 4 - 7 years 4 - 7 years
Depreciation plan Linear Linear

Machinery, fixtures and equipment
Original cost per 1 January 166 097 169 861
Additions in connection with business combinations  459 -6 693
Additions by separate acquisition 2 990 1 063
Exit value 33 4 827
Original cost per 31 December 169 512 166 097

Accumulated depreciations per 31 December 132 317 129 010
Disposals – accumulated depreciations -5 824  -5 825 
Accumulated write-downs per 31 December 38 442  38 442 
Disposals – accumulated write-downs -1 408 -1 408
Accumulated depreciations and write-downs per 31 December 163 526 160 219

Entered value per 31 December 5 986 5 878
Year’s depreciations 3 306 3 647
Year’s write-downs 0 0
Economic lifetime 3-7 years 3-7 years
Depreciation plan Linear Linear

The economic lifetime for leasehold improvements and machines, fixtures and equipment can normally be 
depreciated over five years based on concrete assessments regarding the asset’s nature or by extension of 
the rental agreement.
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Note 7 Fixed assets (continued) 

Annual rental of non-recorded assets 
The Group has entered into several different operational rental agreements regarding office premises,  
ICT equipment and office machines. The majority of the rental agreements have an extension option.  
Future minimum rental linked to non-cancellable rental agreements are as follows:

Future minimum rent
All amounts in thousands of NOK   2013 2012
Under one year  27 937  28 470 
Between one and five years  67 029  66 175 
Over five years 0 0
Total 94 966 94 645

Future minimum lease payments comprise the lease contract for the group’s head office at Bolette Brygge 1 
for approx. NOK 38 million. Even though the consequence of a decision in accordance with the notification 
from the Norwegian Financial Supervisory Authority will result in a liquidation of all or part of Navigea 
Securities’ activities, the premises will be fully utilised and the lease obligations will be taken over by other 
companies within the Agasti Group. For other lease contracts, based on experience and assessment of the 
rental market, a provision equivalent to approximately  50% of future minimum lease payments has been 
made for Navigea Securities’ Norwegian activities, and a portion of future lease obligations associated with 
Navexa Securities AB’s premises in Sweden, where Navigea’s Swedish branch operates its business. In total, 
NOK 13.6 have been set aside for covering future lease obligations. See note 21 for further information.

Rent from non-balance sheet fixed assets entered against costs
Rental costs

All amounts in thousands of NOK  2013 1) 2012 
Leasing agreements, premises, including common costs 23 130 32 091
Leasing agreements, parking facilities 1 893 1 647
Leasing agreements, meeting facilities etc. 212 304
Leasing agreements, various machinery and equipment 1 063 2 100
Total 26 299 36 142

1) The reduction in rent for premises is explained by the renewal of leases with a reduced scope and the termination  
of individual lease agreements. 

Note 8 Acquisitions

the Agasti Group. The acquisition resulted in 
goodwill of NOK 35.3 million. The management 
believes that the acquisition will result in improved 
positioning within the management business, and 
will positively impact upon future earnings beyond 
the value of the individual assets, as well as 
synergies with existing operations. The ownership 
stake is equal to voting rights.

On 7 February 2013, Agasti Capital Markets AS 
(ACM) acquired 100 per cent of the shares in 
Wunderlich Securities AS (changed name to Agasti 
Wunderlich Capital Markets AS (AWCM). The 
acquisition was carried out with a cash payment of 
NOK 7 million and the issuing of 3.5 million shares 
with a nominal value of NOK 0.18, as well as a share 
premium reserve totalling NOK 3.6 million. The share 

Aquisitions
On 3 January  2013, Obligo Investment Management 
AS (OIM) acquired 100 per cent of the shares in 
ABGSC Real Estate AS (changed name to Obligo 
Real Estate AS) with wholly-owned subsidiary 
ABGSC Real Estate, Inc. (changed name to Obligo 
Real Estate, Inc.) for NOK 45 million. This was 
financed through an interest-free loan from the 
seller, ABG Sundal Collier ASA, which is repaid by 
NOK 2.5 million each quarter over a period of five 
years, with an additional payment of NOK 8 million 
after five years. The share price is based on a 
strategic objective to take a larger share of the value 
chain. Obligo Real Estate AS is a limited company 
with its head office in Oslo, Norway. The company 
manages real estate and shipping portfolios which 
were already linked to some of the activities within 
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company’s 100 per cent ownership stake in the 
companies Realkapital Partners AS (changed name 
to Obligo Partners AS) and Realkapital Partners 
Luxembourg SA, as well as some smaller investment 
companies for NOK 4.9 million, with the opportunity 
for further payments of up to NOK 5 million. The 
payment was made in cash. The share price is based 
on a strategic objective to take a larger share of the 
value chain and utilise economies of scale. OFM is  
a limited company with its head office in Oslo, 
Norway. The company manages real estate 
portfolios. The acquisition resulted in goodwill of 
NOK 4.8 million.  The management believes that  
the acquisition will strengthen the team within the 
management activities in the Group, and will 
positively impact upon future earnings beyond the 
value of the individual assets, as well as synergies 
with existing operations. The ownership stake is 
equal to voting rights. 

price is based on the company’s competence within 
corporate finance and brokerage activities, in 
addition to the strategic alliance with Wunderlich 
Securities in the USA. The acquisition resulted in 
goodwill of NOK 2 million. AWCM has its head office 
in Oslo and offers advisory services, brokerage and 
facilitation of various types of capital market 
transactions. Agasti Capital Markets AS acquired  
the company to give the Group access to more 
resources, as well as create a link between existing 
activities internally within the Group and with regard 
to the strategic alliance with Wunderlich Securities, 
Inc. The Group has chosen to measure the 
non-controlling interests in AWCM at fair value. 

On 16 October 2013, Obligo Investment Manage-
ment AS (OIM) acquired 100 per cent of the shares 
in RS Platou Fund Management AS (changed name 
to Obligo Fund Management AS) with the 

Note 8 Acquisitions (continued)  

Allocation of the added value relating to the acquisitions is as follows:

All amounts in thousands of NOK Fair value recognised upon acquisition of:

Acquired companies
Obligo Real 

Estate AS
Agasti Wunderlich 
Capital Markets AS

Obligo Fund 
Management AS

Assets
Deferred tax 3 110 4
Fixed assets (note 7) 351 108
Cash and cash equivalents 8 257 11 109 3 704
Receivables 2 395 1 354 2 294
Other assets 616 1 255
Total assets 11 268 15 925 7 364

Liabilities
Accounts payable -272 29
Other liabilities -8 784 -6 448 -1 056
Provisions -1 690
Deferred tax liabilities -68 -5
Total liabilities -8 852 -6 720 -2 722

Net identifiable assets at fair value 2 416 9 204 4 643

Goodwill 35 342 2 045 4 773
Purchase price 37 758 11 250 9 416

Capital increase 0  4 200 0
Cash/debt previous owner 1)  37 758  7 050  9 416 
Purchase price 37 758 11 250 9 416

Paid in cash  7 852  7 050  4 850 
Net cash out 7 852 7 050 4 850

1)  The difference between the purchase price of NOK 45 million plus the additional consideration of NOK 8 million and  
 the booked purchase price for the shares in Obligo Real Estate AS are due to the present value calculation of interest- 
 free trade credit.
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Note 8 Acquisitions (continued)  

The acquired companies have contributed a total of NOK 76 million to the Group’s operating revenues and 
NOK 7 million to the Group’s net income before tax during the period between acquisition and 31.12.2013 as 
follows: 

All amounts in thousands of NOK  During holding period  Financial year 2013

Acquired companies:
From 
date

Operating 
revenues

Net income 
before tax

Operating 
revenues

Net income 
before tax

Obligo Real Estate AS with subsidiaries 03.01.13 44 438 16 492 44 438 16 492
Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS 01.02.13 29 605 -11 888 29 842 -12 896
Obligo Fund Management AS with subsidiaries 16.10.13 2 390 2 368 11 433 7 621
TOTAL  76 433  6 972  85 713  11 217 

Deferred tax liabilities mainly consist of differences between the accounting and tax depreciation on fixed 
assets and intangible assets.

If the acquisition was carried out as at 01.01.2013, the Group’s total operating revenues for the entire period 
would have been NOK 430 million, and the Group’s net income before tax NOK seven million.

Included in the value of the goodwill are client relationships, employees with special skills and expected 
synergies with the Agasti Group’s existing business. These intangible assets do not meet the recognition 
criteria in IAS 38 and are therefore not entered in the balance sheet separately.

The entered goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating unit Markets.

Note 9 Shares in subsidiaries 

The companies listed below are all wholly owned by Agasti Holding ASA.   

Company Country
Registered 
office Principal operations

Navigea Securities AS Norway Oslo Securities companies
Navexa Securities AB Sweden Stockholm Insurance undertakings
Obligo Investment Management AS Norway Oslo Management and administration of investment  

companies
Agasti Capital Markets AS Norway Oslo Management of ownership interests in other  

companies etc.
Agasti Business Services AS Norway Stavanger Inter Group service provision
Acta Asset Management AS Norway Stavanger Securities companies
Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS Norway Stavanger No activity
Acta Kapitalförvaltning AB Sweden Stockholm No activity
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Note 10 Share capital and shareholder information 

As per 31 December 2013, share capital in Agasti Holding ASA consisted of 293,472,726 shares with a 
nominal value of NOK 0.18. There is only one share class.

Ownership structure Number  
of shares

Ownership 
stake

The 20 largest shareholders in the company as at 31 December 2013 were:
Coil Investment Group AS 35 068 547 11,95 %
Ludvig Lorentzen AS 31 342 523 10,68 %
Perestroika AS 25 047 228 8,53 %
Tenold Gruppen AS 20 195 948 6,88 %
Best Invest AS 12 808 707 4,36 %
IKM Industri-Invest AS 11 190 000 3,81 %
Bjelland Invest AS 10 785 000 3,67 %
Mons Holding AS 10 766 620 3,67 %
Sissener Sirius ASA 10 360 000 3,53 %
Sanden A/S 7 500 000 2,56 %
SEB Private Bank S.A. (Extended) 4 300 000 1,47 %
Wunderlich Acquistion Holding Inc. 3 500 000 1,19 %
Coldevin Invest AS 2 918 856 0,99 %
Extellus AS 2 800 000 0,95 %
International Oilfield Services AS 2 500 000 0,85 %
Steinar Lindberg A.S. 2 100 000 0,72 %
Jag Holding AS 2 000 000 0,68 %
Wunderlich Securities, Inc. 1 916 400 0,65 %
Brattetveit AS 1 833 022 0,62 %
Ringern Invest AS 1 520 251 0,52 %
Total 20 largest shareholders 200 453 102 68,30 %
Total other shareholders 93 019 624 31,70 %
Total number of shares 293 472 726 100,00 %

Number
Total outstanding shares 01.01.2013  257 530 750 
Total outstanding shares 31.12.2013  293 472 726 
Average total shares in 2013  277 102 561 
Average total undiluted shares in 2013  277 285 521 

Earnings per share (year’s result Group / average total shares) -0,01 
Undiluted earnings per share (year’s result Group / average total undiluted shares) -0,01 

At the ordinary general meeting on 26 June 2013, the Board of Agasti Holding ASA was granted 
authorisation  to issue new shares in Agasti Holding ASA in one or several private and/or public placements. 
The authorisation applies for the issuance of up to 57.1 million shares with a nominal value of NOK 0.18, which 
means that the Board can, in accordance with the authorisation, increase the share capital by up to NOK 10.3 
million. Parts of this authorisation are specifically linked to a rights issue of 31.1 million shares, and was valid 
until 1 September 2013. The remaining authorisation for 26 million shares is valid until the date of the next 
ordinary general meeting, but no later than 30 June 2014. If the nominal value of the shares should change 
within the period of authorisation, the authorisation shall be changed accordingly.
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Note 10 Share capital and shareholder information (continued)

Shares directly or indirectly owned or controlled by members of the Board and management employees as at  
31 December 2013: 

Name Office Number  
of shares

Ownership 
stake

Jørgen Pleym Ulvness 1) Managing Director Agasti Holding ASA 2 918 856 0,99 %
Christian Tunge 2) CFO Agasti Holding ASA 1 000 000 0,34 %
Svein Erik Lilleland Chief Executive Officer Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS 0 0,00 %
Bjarne Eggesbø Chief Executive Officer Obligo Investment Management AS 0 0,00 %
Kjersti Aksnes Gjesdahl Chief Executive Officer Navigea Securities AS 0 0,00 %
Erling Meinich-Bache Chairman of the Board Agasti Holding ASA 0 0,00 %
Beatriz Malo de Molina Vice Chairman of the Board Agasti Holding ASA 0 0,00 %
Merete Haugli Board Member Agasti Holding ASA 0 0,00 %
Sissel Knutsen Hegdal Board Member Agasti Holding ASA 0 0,00 %

1)  Owned by Coldevin Invest AS.
2)  Christian Tunge left the position as CFO on 11 February 2014. Christian Dovland took up the position on the same day.

Remuneration based on share value - Stock options  

Name Office

Number 
of stock 
options 

01.01.2013

Awarded
during 

the year

Exercised/
redeemed 
during the 

year

Expired/
terminated 
during the 

year

Number 
of stock 
options 

31.12.2013

Cost  
of stock 

options 1)

Jørgen Pleym  
Ulvness

Chief Executive 
Officer Agasti 
Holding ASA 1 750 000 583 333 1 166 667  359 116 

Christian Tunge 2) Chief Financial  
Officer Agasti 
Holding ASA 1 390 000 300 000 186 667 903 333  291 363 

Bjarne Eggesbø Chief Executive  
Officer Obligo  
Investment  
Management AS

Svein Erik Lilleland Chief Executive 
Officer Agasti 
Wunderlich Capital 
Markets AS

Kjersti Aksnes  
Gjelsdahl

Chief Executive 
Officer Navigea 
Securities AS

1)  Amounts in NOK 1000.
2)  Christian Tunge left the position as CFO on 11 February 2014.

No Board Members or other employee representatives have stock options in Agasti Holding ASA.

Note 11 Dividends

In 2013, no dividend was paid. The Board has not proposed that a dividend be paid for 2014.

Note 12 Current receivables 

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013  2012  
Accrued/non-received revenues 53 402 32 496
Pre-paid costs 19 883 20 843
Tax USA 1 533 0
Too much advance tax paid, Sweden 8 418 0
Miscellaneous current receivables 8 097 3 016
Total current receivables 91 333 56 355
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Note 13 Financial assets - Marketable securities 

Book value of financial assets

All amounts in thousands of NOK Holding company 2013  2012
Shares in various investment portfolios Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS  40 833 29 991
Shares in Deliveien 4 Holding AS Navigea Securities AS  628 750
Interests in Key Recovery Special Investments Limited 
Class (NOK/EUR/SEK)

Navigea Securities AS 0 1 451

Shares in various investment portfolios Obligo Fund Management 
Group

 1 173 0

Shares in various investment portfolios Obligo Real Estate AS  972 0
Total current receivables 43 606 32 192

Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS has acquired shares in investment portfolios in connection with the settlement of 
client issues. The client has been paid the value of the shares plus any compensation in exchange for Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS acquiring the shares. The investment portfolios are priced four times a year, on 15 
March, 15 June, 15 September and 15 December. The pricing carried out on 15 March and 15 September are 
based on valuations made by independent parties. The calculation and determination of prices is described 
in more detail in note 20 - Determination of fair value.

Shares in Deliveien 4 Holding AS are recognised at nominal value for the last determined price, from 
15.12.2013.

The risk in these investment portfolios lies in the price development in the portfolios, which is affected 
positively or negatively by changes in market prices, foreign exchange rates or interest rates. Refer to note 
20 for a more detailed description of the determination of prices. 

Note 14 Provisions and other current liabilities  

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013  2012
Accrued expenses, unpaid wages, holiday pay, etc.  29 187  46 890 
Kickbacks to clients 0  4 382 
Provisions for estimated compensation to clients and process costs relating to received 
customer complaints

 23 424  35 448 

Provision for liquidation costs  13 621  20 230 
Provision for lease obligations (note 7) 13 588 0
Total provisions and other current liabilities  32 111  1 785 
Sum avsetninger og andre kortsiktige forpliktelser 111 931  108 734 

Provisions
Kickback to 

clients
Compensa-
tion clients

Balance 1 January 2013  4 382  35 448 
Accrued 2013 0 0
Provision applied in 2013  -4 382  -12 024 
Balance 31 December 2013 0  23 424 
Current 0  23 424 
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lost equity. Any legal costs and accrued interest will 
be in addition. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS disputes 
the claims. Regarding reputational damage, much  
of this has already occurred, in that the case has 
circulated in the media since September 2008.

In January 2009, the Norwegian Financial Services 
Complaints Board (Finansklagenemnda) announced 
its ruling on a complaint against a major Norwegian 
bank’s sale of two leveraged structured products to 
investors in the year 2000. The Board’s decision was 
not unanimous. Three of the five members voted in 
favour of the complainant. Immediately after the 
verdict was announced, the bank stated that it 
would comply with the decision of the Board. The 
Norwegian Supreme Court handled the case in 2013, 
and decided that the bank should compensate the 
customer for his lost equity. The Supreme Court 
determined that the bank had given the investor 
incorrect and overoptimistic information regarding 
the investment. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS notes 
that the judgement relates to two specific products 
from a particular bank. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 
deems that a comparison with all structured 
products is not justified. After an internal review, 
equivalent incorrect information has not been found 
in any of the products distributed by Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 
considers the risk of a group action lawsuit from 
customers who have chosen to invest in similar 
products distributed by the company and which 
may result in major losses to be relatively limited. 
Unlike the bank, which has been the customer’s 
financial advisor, lender, producer and organiser, 
Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS has only been 
responsible for financial advice in relation to its 
customers. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS admits 
liability for the advice given. The risk of a group 
action is also considered to be relatively limited 
because of the fact that all advice is given on an 
individual basis. 

In 2011, provisions were made for estimated 
compensation to clients and process costs relating 
to received customer complaints. The estimates are 
based on concrete evaluations of the advisory itself, 
in relation to the relevant laws and regulations at the 
time of the agreement with the customer, and 
assessment of necessary legal assistance to secure  
a professional and thorough treatment of customer 
complaints. The provisions are made in order to 
meet potential future claims for compensation from 
clients, and are carried out following a thorough 
review of complaints in the subsidiaries Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS and Acta Asset Management 
AS. Compensation for clients will therefore have less 
of an impact on the Group’s accounts in the period 
ahead. Dissolution of the provisions will have an 
effect on liquidity.  

Just under 450 Swedish investors, who in the years 
2006 and 2007 invested in bonds issued by Lehman 
Brothers, and which were distributed by Acta 
Kapitalförvaltning, a branch of Acta Kapitalforvalt-
ning AS, a subsidiary of Agasti Holding ASA, have 
brought legal action against Acta Kapitalforvaltning 
AS. 

The investors dispute the obligation to repay the 
loans to the bank, and have also turned to Acta 
Kapitalforvaltning AS as advisor to claim coverage 
for any loan that is not covered by the bank, and in 
certain cases, lost equity. Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 
considers the risk linked to these actions to be 
relatively limited, since the company is only 
responsible for the advisory service, and this is 
provided on an individual basis. This assessment is 
also supported by the Swedish National Board for 
Consumer Complaints (ARN), which in March 2010 
reached the principle decision that Acta Kapitalfor-
valtning AS is not liable towards investors due to 
inexpedient advice in connection with the 
bankruptcy of Lehman Brothers. Acta Kapitalfor-
valtning AS expects that, through individual legal 
proceedings, the court will come to the same 
conclusion as the ARN. The legal actions that have 
now been brought against Acta Kapitalforvaltning 
AS do however, involve a certain level of risk, both 
economically and in terms of reputation, since the 
company may be responsible for errors or omissions 
in the advice in certain cases, something which the 
ARN has also maintained. Economically, the 
maximum exposure is estimated to be around SEK 
168 million provided that all the plaintiffs win their 
claims. The total also includes the replacement of 

Note 14 Provisions and other current liabilities (continued)
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Note 15 Income taxes 

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Tax payable on the year’s taxable earnings 564 0
Corrected tax previous year -1 164
Recognised change in deferred tax 4 872 -6 310
Year’s tax expenses 5 435 -6 146
Effective tax rate 1) 170,6 % 10,2 %

Specification of assets and liabilities by deferred tax  

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Outstanding receivables 2 796 0
Operating assets 2 580 2 522
Accounting provisions 14 883 19 624
Profit and loss account 9 163
Loss to carry forward 2) 49 082 47 048
Total deferred tax assets 69 349 69 357

Deferred tax assets not included in the balance sheet 4) 22 035 19 797
Net deferred tax assets 47 314 49 560

Deferred tax assets in Norway are related to deficits that can be carried forward and temporary differences 
between the recognised value and tax value of assets that will be released over the remaining lifetime of the 
asset, and recognised provisions that will be released over a period of three years. In Sweden, deferred tax 
assets relate to losses carried forward until 1 January 2011, less tax on the taxable profit in Sweden in 2013.

In Norway, with the exception of 2012, the Agasti Group has had a taxable result. The Group’s management 
believes it is reasonably certain that the Group in Norway will be able to utilise the tax benefit as the 
temporary differences are released. In Sweden during 2012 and into 2013 a comprehensive restructuring  
was carried out, which will involve a significant reduction in annual costs. This has contributed to the Group 
attaining a taxable profit in Sweden in 2013. The Group’s management expects a taxable profit in Sweden 
going forward, and therefore considers the deferred tax assets entered on the balance sheet as at 31 
December 2013 to be reasonable. Deficits that can be carried forward have no maturity date.

Reconciliation of actual against estimated tax expense  

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012
Net income before taxes 3 186 -60 020
Calculated tax cost (28 %) 892 -16 806
Tax rate outside Norway -204 1 459
Permanent differences (28 %) 3) 3 435 1 554
Change in deferred tax assets from change in tax rate in Norway 1 313 0
Change in deferred tax assets from change in tax rate in Sweden 0 2 750
Deferred tax assets not included in the balance sheet 0 4 897
Actual tax expenses 5 435 -6 146
Effective tax rate 1) 170,6 % 10,2 %

1)  Tax expenses in relation to pre-tax profit.
2)  Deferred tax asset relating to loss carry forward in Norway in 2012, partially utilised in 2013, as well as loss carry 

forward in Sweden up to and including 2010, partially reduced by taxable profit in 2013. Deferred tax assets relating 
to loss to carry forward in Sweden in 2011 and 2012 are entered in the profit and loss account against the change in 
equity.

3)  Does not include non-deductible costs, such as representation, client events and gifts, as well as estimated benefits  
of distributed options.

4)  The increase is due to a change in the currency exchange rate.
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Note 15 Income taxes (continued)

Tax payable in balance sheet calculated as follows:

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Tax payable on net income for the year 564 0
Total tax payable on balance sheet 564 0

Tax payable relates to the estimated taxable profit in Obligo Real Estate, Inc. When estimating tax payable 
a tax rate of 45.7 per cent is used.

Reconciliation of net deferred tax/tax assets  

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Net deferred tax/tax assets 01 January 49 560 42 440
Booked via income statement -4 872 6 310
Additions acquisition of companies 1 567 0
Conversion differences 1 059 810
Net deferred tax/tax assets 31 December 47 314 49 560

Note 16 Related parties 

In August 2012, Agasti Holding ASA entered into an agreement with then Board Member and later Chairman 
of the Board Merete Haugli regarding services linked to the area of compliance. The services were beyond 
the scope of the work tasks and obligations relating to the other positions she holds within Agasti.  In 2013, 
the Board of Directors decided to remunerate Merete Haugli with a total of NOK 150,000 for this work in the 
period 2012-2013.    

The strategic collaboration with Wunderlich Investment Company, Inc. has resulted in the Agasti Group 
acquiring 100 per cent of Wunderlich Securities AS for NOK 11 million in February 2013. This company was 
indirectly controlled by Alfred Ydstebø, former Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer between 
August 2012 and December 2013. 

Internal trading in the Group is carried out in accordance with separate agreements and at arm’s length, and 
settlement of common costs in Agasti Holding ASA and Agasti Business Services AS is divided between the 
Group companies in accordance with keys, depending on the future of the various costs.
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Note 17 Financial risk      

The Agasti Group’s exposure linked to financial instruments is limited to liquidity held in the form of bank 
deposits. At the end of 2013, the Group has limited interest-bearing liabilities and therefore has no interest 
rate risk related to borrowed capital. The financial market risk is otherwise limited to future income being 
affected by changes in market prices of the company’s products, as well as general market fluctuations.  
An increased total number of customer complaints may result in an increased risk of legal action against  
the Group, but the risk of class action etc., being successfully taken against the Group is assessed as being 
relatively low. Future portfolio income will vary with fluctuations in market prices of the client portfolios 
being managed. Currency risk is not significant, and is mainly linked to part of the Group’s business 
operations being carried out in Sweden. Credit risk is limited to current receivables and is not assessed  
as being significant. 

The effect on the Group’s earnings and equity of the change in the exchange rate of the values entered  
in the balance sheet in foreign currency, including assets and liabilities linked to the Group’s operations  
in Sweden segment, is shown in the table below.

Unit Currency

Change 
in the 
NOK 

exchange 
rate

Effect on net  
income before tax Effect on equity

All amounts in thousands of 
NOK 

2013 2012 2013 2012 

Earnings converted from SEK SEK +5% 214 410 154 295
-5% -214 -410 -154 -295

Invoiced income SEK +5% 888 6 639 4
-5% -888 -6 -639 -4

Invoiced income USD +5% 850 343 612 247
-5% -850 -343 -612 -247

Invoiced income EUR +5% 101 4 72 3
-5% -101 -4 -72 -3

Invoiced income GBP +5% 6 0 4 0
-5% -6 0 -4 0

Long-term receivables USD +5% 760 696 548 501
-5% -760 -696 -548 -501

Current receivables SEK +5% 1 055 811 759 584
-5% -1 055 -811 -759 -584

Current receivables USD +5% 77 0 55 0
-5% -77 0 -55 0

Current liabilities SEK +5% -691 -439 -497 -316
-5% 691 439 497 316

Current liabilities USD +5% -342 0 -247 0
-5% 342 0 247 0

Unlisted shares SEK +5% 452 272 325 196
-5% -452 -272 -325 -196

Bank deposits SEK +5% 1 130 900 813 648
-5% -1 130 -900 -813 -648

Bank deposits DKK +5% 1 1 0 0
-5% -1 -1 0 0

Bank deposits USD +5% 696 277 501 200
-5% -696 -277 -501 -200

Bank deposits EUR +5% 120 139 86 100
-5% -120 -139 -86 -100

Bank deposits GBP +5% -46 -15 -33 -10
-5% 46 15 33 10
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Note 18 Subordinated capital - Agasti Group 

Agasti Holding ASA is subject to capital adequacy requirements on a consolidated basis, cf. § 9-21 of the 
Securities Trading Act. Calculation of subordinated capital and capital adequacy per 31 December 2013 is in 
accordance with the statement below.

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Subordinated capital
Core capital 229 750 184 332
Deduction for deferred tax asset 47 314 49 560
Deduction for goodwill and other intangible assets 72 494 43 637
Net subordinated capital 109 942 91 135

Capital adequacy
Net subordinated capital 109 942 91 135
Risk-weighted calculation basis 985 673 1 010 204
Capital adequacy measured in per cent 11,2 % 9,0 %
Capital adequacy - authorities’ requirement in per cent 8,0 % 8,0 %
Surplus/deficit of subordinated capital 31 089 10 319

From 01 January 2007, new capital adequacy regulations in line with the EU countries came into force in 
Norway. The new regulations are based on the main principles of the Basel Committee’s report of June 
2004. 

The calculation base for the requirement for consolidated subordinated capital is equal to the sum of the 
calculation bases for credit risk and operational risk. The calculation base for credit risk is set based on risk 
weights set in the regulations. The calculation base for operational risk is determined as a percentage of the 
Group’s average income over the past three years (basic method). The risk-weighted calculation base for 
2012 has been updated so as to be comparable with 2013. Preliminary calculations show that the required 
consolidated subordinated capital requirement for 2014 will be approximately NOK 79 million.

Note 19 Assets pledged as collateral and guarantees  

All amounts in thousands of NOK 
Booked liabilities that are secured 
with collateral etc.: Borrower Credit limit 2013 2012 
- Overdraft Sparebank1, SR-Bank Agasti Holding ASA 60 000 10 172 20 840
- Debt to ABG Sundal Collier ASA Obligo Investment Management AS 45 500 0
Total 60 000 55 672 20 840

Agasti Holding ASA has an overdraft facility with a limit of NOK 60 million. On 1 April 2014 the overdraft  
facility will be reduced to NOK 30 million. The overdraft facility is subject to annual renewal. In use of the 
overdraft, Sparebank 1 SR-Bank has collateral in the shares of the Group’s subsidiaries, listed below. In 
addition, the Group’s subsidiaries have made a declaration of negative pledge. 
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Note 19 Assets pledged as collateral and guarantees (continued)

Book value of financial assets pledged as collateral All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 
Shares in Navigea Securities AS 40 000
Shares in Navexa Securities AB 10 887
Shares in Obligo Investment Management AS 45 428
Shares in Obligo Fund Management AS 9 416
Shares in Agasti Capital Markets AS 7 254
Shares in Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS 31 250
Shares in Agasti Business Services AS 19 906
Shares in Acta Asset Management AS 16 008
Shares in Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 38 305
Shares in Acta Kapitalförvaltning AB 487
Total book value of financial assets 218 941

Obligo Investment Management AS acquired the companies ABG Sundal Collier Real Estate AS and 
subsidiary ABG Sundal Collier Real Estate, Inc. from ABG Sundal Collier Norge ASA with effect from 3 
January 2013. The purchase price was agreed at NOK 45 million plus an additional payment of NOK 8 million. 
The amount will be paid in instalments over a period of five years. As security for the at any time remaining 
and unpaid portion of the purchase price, the shares in the acquired companies are pledged in favour of 
ABG Sundal Collier Norge ASA. For further information, see note 8.

Note 20 Determination of fair value 

The fair value of financial assets classified as ”available for sale” and ”held for trading” is determined with 
reference to the market price on the balance sheet date. The fair value of unlisted financial assets has been 
estimated using valuation techniques based on assumptions that are not supported by observable market 
prices.

The fair value of options is determined through the use of option pricing models.

The following of the company’s financial instruments are not valued at fair value: Cash and cash 
equivalents,  accounts receivable, other current receivables, bank overdrafts, long-term liabilities and  
”held-to-maturity investments”. 

The value of cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts entered in the balance sheet approximates  
fair value because these instruments have short maturities. Similarly, the value of accounts receivable and 
accounts payable entered in the balance sheet approximates fair value as these have ”normal”  
conditions. 

Financial assets include unlisted shares in various investment portfolios which Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 
has acquired in connection with the settlement of customer issues. The customer has been paid the  
market value of the shares plus any compensation, while Acta Kapitalforvaltning has taken over shares  
in the investment portfolios on the company’s books or balance sheet. 

The assets are recognised in the accounts at the last known price, set 15.12. 2013, adjusted downwards with 
a liquidity premium of 10 per cent, equivalent to NOK 4.5 million. The investment portfolios are priced four 
times a year, on 15 March, 15 June, 15 September and 15 December. The pricing carried out on 15 March and 
15 September are based on valuations made by independent parties. 

The risk in these investment portfolios lies in the price development in the portfolios, which is affected 
 positively or negatively by changes in market prices, foreign exchange rates or interest rates.

Prices are set based on a calculation of the value-adjusted equity per share of the portfolio based on the 
assets’ market value and with individual adjustments as described below. The aim is to come to a price 
which corresponds to the market’s normal assessment of the value of the shares in the company. 
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Note 20 Determination of fair value (continued) 

Real estate – Share price is calculated in accordance with the following principle:

K =    EM – LS + NAK – LG + R + GK – SH
          A

K  Share price 
EM  The property’s market value 
LS  Estimated deferred tax 
NAK  Net working capital including cash 
LG Long-term liabilities 
R  Estimated premium/discount on financing 
GK  Remaining capitalised issuance and acquisition costs 
SH  Accrued performance fee 
A  Number of shares issued 

Shipping – Share price is calculated in accordance with the following principle:

NPV (L + RV – K – RK – A’ord – A’sa – SH) + C – AEG
   A

NPV  Present value (“of”) 
L  Contractual rental income 
RV  Residual value (estimated) upon expiration of the leases 
K  Running costs 
RK  Interest expenses mortgages (including swap costs) 
A’ord  Ordinary mortgage instalments 
A’sa  Repayment/instalments remaining loan upon sale of vessel 
SH  Any accrued performance fee 
C  Cash (cash/bank) 
AEG  Other assets and liabilities (net) 
A  Number of shares issued  

When calculating the present value of the cash flow (before tax) a discount rate of 11 per cent is used.

Infrastructure, Private equity and renewable energy – Share price is calculated in accordance with the 
following principle:

K =    RFV + VD – LS + NAK – LG + EH – SH
            A

K Share price 
RFV Reported fund value 
VD Valuation direct investments 
LS Deferred tax 
NAK Net working capital including cash 
LG Long-term liabilities 
EH  Non-depreciated placement fee  
SH Accrued performance fee 
A Number of shares issued 

For financial assets and liabilities recognised at the value entered in the balance sheet, the fair value  
is calculated as the present value of estimated cash flows discounted by the interest rate that applies  
for the corresponding assets and liabilities on the balance sheet date. This applies to:
- Debt as a result of the acquisition of companies (see note 8)”

The fair value of “held to maturity” investments is determined using available market prices.   
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Note 20 Determination of fair value (continued) 

A comparison of the values entered in the balance sheet and fair value of the Group’s financial instruments  
is included below. Fair value of the debt component of preference shares is estimated using the market rate 
for similar convertible bonds. 

2013 2012

All amounts in thousands of NOK

Value 
entered in 

the balance 
sheet

Fair
value

Value 
entered in 

the balance 
sheet

Fair
value

Financial assets
Cash 141 329 141 329 135 150 135 150
Other current receivables 91 333 91 333 35 512 35 512
Loans 15 209 15 209 13 916 13 916
Available for sale investments 43 606 43 606 32 192 32 192
Total financial assets  291 477  291 477  216 770  216 770 

Financial liabilities
Overdraft 10 172 10 172 20 840 20 840
Accounts payable 13 892 13 892 6 988 6 988
Other current liabilities 92 348 92 348 73 279 73 279
Other long-term liabilities 35 266 35 266 0 0
Total financial liabilities 151 678 151 678 101 107 101 107

Fair value hierarchy
The Group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
input that is used in the preparation of the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 

Level 1:  Input is listed prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2  Input is other than listed prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,  

either directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) 
Level 3  Input for the asset or liability which is not based on observable market data (non-observable input)

All amounts in thousands of NOK
Assets recognised at fair value   31.12.13 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Financial assets at fair value with 
changes in value through profit or loss
Shares  43 606  43 606
Total 43 606 0 43 606 0

During the reporting period there were no changes in fair value measurements which resulted in transfers 
between Level 1 and Level 2, and no transfers in and out of Level 3.
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Notice of withdrawal of licenses in Navigea 
Securities AS
On 17 March 2014, subsidiary Navigea Securities AS 
received a “Notice of the withdrawal of licenses” 
from the Financial Supervisory Authority following 
an on-site inspection in April 2013. The final report 
from the FSA will be issued once Navigea Securities 
AS has provided its response to the notice. The 
consequence of a decision in line with the notice 
from the FSA may result in the liquidation or 
disposal of parts or all of the Group’s investment 
advice business. This may negatively impact upon 
Agasti’s earnings for 2014 as a result of restructuring 
costs. A temporary estimate of such costs amounts 
to around NOK 40 million if the activities within 
investment advisory services are terminated, of 
which NOK 13.6 million relates to future lease 
obligations for which provisions have been made in 
the annual accounts for 2013.

In order to fulfil the company’s obligations under 
option agreements entered into with employees, the 
Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA decided 
on 13 February 2014 to make use of the share 
issuance authorisation granted by the annual 
general meeting on 26 June 2013 towards the 
relevant option holders. The Board of Directors 
decided to increase the company’s share capital by 
NOK 43,443.54 from NOK 52,825,090.68 to NOK 
52,868,534.22 through the issuing of 241,353 new 
shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.18. As a 
result of the issue, Agasti received gross proceeds of 
NOK 265,488.30.

At its meeting of 6 March 2014, the Board of 
Directors of Agasti Holding ASA adopted an option 
scheme for selected managers in the Agasti Group 
with a total budget of 7 million stock options. The 
scheme is part of an incentive programme for the 
Agasti Group, which will help to give positive results 
and attract new employees as well as retain existing 
employees. On 6 March 2014, 5.67 million stock 
options were allocated to selected managers in the 
Agasti Group. Following this allocation, the number 
of issued options totals 10.00 million shares.

Note 21 Events after balance sheet date 

NOTES ON THE cONSOLIDATED AccOUNTS
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AGASTI HOLDING ASA
THE COMPANY’S INCOME STATEMENT - 1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER - NGAAP

All amounts in thousands of NOK Note 2013 2012

Operating revenues 21 970  13 258 

Wages and salaries 2 18 136 10 231

Depreciations 4 57 7

Other operating expenses 3 18 685 10 609

Total operating expenses 36 878 20 847

Operating earnings -14 908 -7 589

Income on investments in subsidiaries 59 731 21 884

Other financial income 3 4 179 3 153

Write-downs, investments in subsidiaries 5 24 650 44 083

Financial expenses 3 4 429 277

Net financial items 34 831 -19 323

Net income before taxes 19 923 -26 912

Income taxes 11 12 800 4 963

Net income 7 123 -31 875

Dividends 0 0

Effective tax rate 64,2 % -18.4%
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AGASTI HOLDING ASA  
COMPANY BALANCE SHEET AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2013 - NGAAP  

All amounts in thousands of NOK Note 2013 2012

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Deferred tax assets 11 1 828  1 431 

Total intangible assets 1 828  1 431 

Leasehold improvements 4 124 0

Machinery, fixtures and equipment 4 242  13 

Total fixed assets 366  13 

Investments in subsidiaries 5 149 084  118 637 

Other receivables 8 56 437  41 976 

Total financial assets 205 521  160 613 

Total non-current assets 207 715 162 057

Current assets

Current receivables 9,10 58 810 48 397

Total receivables 58 810 48 397

Bank deposits 6 156 5 546

Total bank deposits and investments 6 156 5 546

   

Total current assets 64 966 53 943

Total assets 272 681 216 000



AgAsti Holding AsA 50

BALANcE SHEET - NGAAP

AGASTI HOLDING ASA  
COMPANY BALANCE AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2013 - NGAAP

All amounts in thousands of NOK Note 2013 2012

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 6,7 52 825 46 356

Share premium 7 66 964 27 786

Other paid-in equity 7 89 480 88 621

Total paid-in equity 209 269 162 763

Other equity 7 7 429  306 

Total retained earnings 7 429 306

Total equity 216 698 163 069

Liabilities

Accounts payable 527  222 

Liabilities to credit institutions 10 172  20 840 

Tax payable 11 0 0

Taxes and public fees payable 900  623 

Provisions and other current liabilities 9,10 44 384  31 246 

Total current liabilities 55 983  52 931 

Total liabilities 55 983  52 931 

Total equity and liabilities 272 681  216 000 

  



AgAsti Holding AsA 51

cASH fLOw STATEmENT - NGAAP

AGASTI HOLDING ASA 
COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT - 1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER - NGAAP 

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012

Operating activities

Net income before tax expenses 19 923 -26 912

Received group contribution – taken to income -59 731 -21 884

Taxes paid in reporting period 0 -14 325

Depreciations 57 7

Write-downs 24 650 44 083

Stock option programme 859 458

Change in accounts payable 305 -630

Change in other receivables -8 353 -19 885

Change in other accruals -8 528 10 242

Net cash flow from operating activities -30 818 -28 845

Investing activities 

Payments for acquisition of fixed assets -411 0

Payments for investments in subsidiaries -5 886 -73 147

Net cash flow from investing activities -6 297 -73 147

Financing activities 

Payments upon increase of long-term debt -14 461 0

Proceeds from received Group contribution and dividends 18 137 90 422

Disbursed outstanding Group contribution -930 -32 593

Proceeds from issuance of shares 45 647 0

Net cash flow from financing activities 48 393 57 829

Net change in bank deposits, short-term investments, bank overdrafts, etc. 11 278 -44 163

Bank deposits, short-term investments, bank overdrafts, etc. as per 01.01. -15 294 28 869

Bank deposits, short-term investments, bank overdrafts, etc. as per 31.12. -4 016 -15 294

Unused overdraft facilities 49 828 9 160

Bank deposits and investments 6 156 5 546

Bank overdrafts -10 172 -20 840

Net bank deposits and bank overdrafts as per 31.12. -4 016 -15 294
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS

Note 1 Accounting principles 

1.1 Basis for preparation of the company accounts
The annual accounts for 2013 are set up in 
accordance with the Accounting Act of 1998, 
Norwegian accounting principles (NGAAP) and 
generally accepted Norwegian accounting best 
practice (NGRS). The annual accounts consist of  
the income statement, balance sheet, cash flow 
statement and notes. The annual accounts 
constitute a whole. The most important accounting 
principles that are used in the preparation of the 
annual accounts are as follows:

1.2 Currency
Monetary items in foreign currencies are valued  
at the year-end exchange rate. Other assets and 
liabilities in foreign currency are valued according  
to general valuation regulations.

1.3 Revenue
Revenues mainly consist of sales of Group services 
to other companies in the Agasti Group. Income is 
entered in the accounts when it is earned. Entry of 
income normally occurs at the time of delivery for 
the sale of services.  

Dividends and Group contributions from 
subsidiaries are recorded in the same year in which 
they are earned in the underlying companies, and 
when such distributions are expected to be resolved, 
and are included in the underlying companies’ 
annual accounts.

Interest income is entered as it is earned.

1.4 Expenses
Expenses are included with and expensed 
simultaneously with the income that the expenses 
are attributable to. Costs that cannot be directly 
attributed to income are expensed when incurred.

Interest and fees are entered as these are earned  
as income or incurred as costs.

1.5 Defined contribution pension schemes
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
pension schemes are entered as expenses in the 
income statement when incurred.

1.6 Share-based payment transactions
Employee stock options are measured at the actual 

value at the time of distribution. The stock options 
are valued according to the Black and Scholes 
model. The calculated value is recognised as a 
personnel costs, with a corresponding entry in other 
paid-in equity. The cost is divided over the period 
until the employees become unconditionally entitled 
to the stock options. 

1.7 Main rule for valuation and classification of 
assets and liabilities
Assets intended for permanent ownership or use are 
classified as fixed assets. Other assets are classified 
as current assets. Receivables that shall be paid 
within a year are classed as current assets. 
Equivalent criteria are used as the basis for the 
classification of long-term and current liabilities.

Fixed assets are valued at historical cost, but written 
down to actual value when the reduction in value is 
not expected to be temporary. The write down is 
reversed when the basis for the write down no longer 
exists. Fixed assets with a limited economic lifetime 
are depreciated in accordance with a depreciation 
plan. Long-term loans are recorded at the nominal 
received value at the time of establishment. 

Current assets are valued at the lowest of the cost 
value and actual value. Short-term liabilities are 
recorded at the nominal received value at the time 
of establishment. 

1.8 Shares in subsidiaries
In Agasti Holding ASA’s company accounts, shares 
in subsidiaries are valued in accordance with the 
cost method. Group contributions are entered  
in the parent company’s accounts as income in 
investment in subsidiaries under financial items,  
in the extent to which the distribution relates to  
the earnings accrued in the holding period. Other 
received Group contributions are entered as a 
reduction of cost price of the shares. Provided 
Group contributions net after tax are entered  
as increased investment in subsidiaries. 

1.9 Receivables
Receivables are recorded at nominal value less 
provisions for expected losses. Provisions for losses 
are made on the basis of an individual analysis of the 
individual receivables.

1.10 Taxes
Tax expenses consist of tax payable and the change 
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Note 2 Salary costs, total employees, remuneration, loans to employees, etc.

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 

Salaries 8 766 5 398

Bonus/profit sharing 4 410 673

Pension costs, defined contribution plans 184 141

Estimated benefit options scheme 858 458

National insurance contributions 2 367 1 238

Other benefits 1 551 2 324

Total 18 136 10 231

Average total full-time equivalent positions  4,8 3.4

Benefits paid to employees in leading positions    

All amounts in thousands of NOK Period Salary 1)

Contribution 
based pension 

scheme
Bonus/profit 

sharing Other

Jørgen Pleym 
Ulvness 2)

CEO
Agasti Holding ASA

2013 1 513 143 64

2012

Alfred Ydstebø 3) CEO 2013 2 850 893 118

2012 1 150 17 191

Christian Tunge 4) Chief Financial Officer 2013 2 228 789 33

2012 2 296 51 639 17

1)   Salaries etc. are shown for the period in which employees in leading positions have been employed in Agasti Holding ASA.
2)   Took up position as CEO on 12 December 2013. Ulvness was employed as Deputy CEO of Agasti Holding ASA until 12 

December 2013, but salary and other benefits up until 1 July 2013 were paid from other companies within the Group.
3)   Left the position on 12 December 2013.
4)   Left position as CFO on 11 February 2014. Christian Dovland took up the position as the new CFO on the same day.

lease agreements. Lease payments are classified as 
an operating expense, and are recognised linearly 
over the contract period.

1.12 Use of estimates 
Management has used estimates and assumptions 
that affect the income statement and the valuation 
of assets and liabilities, as well as contingent assets 
and liabilities on the balance sheet date during the 
preparation of the annual accounts in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. 

1.13 Contingencies and events after the balance 
sheet date
Contingent losses that are probable and quantifiable 
are expensed.

1.14 Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is prepared according to 
the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents 
include cash, bank deposits and other short-term 
liquid investments. 

in deferred tax. Deferred tax/tax assets are 
calculated on all differences between accounting 
and tax values of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax 
is calculated at 27 per cent based on the temporary 
differences that exist between the accounting and 
tax values, and tax loss carried forward at the end  
of the financial year. Net deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is likely that they 
could be utilised. 

Tax expenses and deferred tax are entered in the 
accounts directly against equity insofar as the tax items 
relate to items recognised directly against equity. 

1.11 Leasing agreements
Agasti Holding ASA’s leasing agreements are 
entered in the accounts in accordance with the 
following rules:

Operating leasing agreements
Leases where the most significant risks and returns 
associated with ownership of the asset are not 
acquired by the company are classified as operating 

Note 1 Accounting principles (continued)
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Benefits to employees in leading positions
The CEO’s remuneration is determined by the 
Boards remuneration committee. The Board’s 
remuneration committee sets guidelines for 
remuneration of other employees in senior positions, 
including fixed salaries and the principles for and 
scope of bonus schemes.  

Employees in leading positions have ordinary bonus 
agreements with annually fixed limits, and normally 
limited to between 40 and 200 per cent of basic 
salary, depending on position. The estimated 
accrued bonus is expensed on an on-going basis.

The CEO and CFO have agreements with 12 months’ 
salary following termination of service if they are 
dismissed without just cause or as a result of major 
changes in duties e.g. merger or acquisition:

The Agasti Group established a defined contribution 
scheme for all permanent employees in Norway and 
Sweden with effect from 1 January 2005. In Norway, 
the contribution rate for 2013 was four per cent of 
fixed salaries between 1G and 6G and six per cent of 
fixed salaries between 6G and 12G. In relation to the 
requirements regarding mandatory occupational 
pensions (OTP) that came into force on 1 July 2006, 
Agasti Group has a pension plan which exceeds the 
minimum requirement of two per cent of salary over 
1G up to 12G.

In the period 2009-2012 the Board of Directors of 
Agasti Holding ASA allocated options in accordance 
with a three-year incentive scheme that covered all 
employees within the Group. All the options in 
accordance with this scheme have expired at the time 
of approval of the annual accounts. In 2012, the Board 
of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA adopted an 
incentive scheme for selected managers in the Group. 
In 2014, this scheme was replaced by a new option 
scheme for selected managers within the Group.  
The scheme is part of a long-term incentive scheme 
for Agasti managers, which will contribute to creating 
positive results and attracting new employees as well 
as retaining existing employees. In 2013, 883 
thousand options were redeemed by employees in 
Agasti Holding ASA. At the time of approval of the 
annual accounts, a total of 5.17 million stock options 
are allocated to employees in Agasti Holding ASA,  
of which 2.57 million are allocated to the CEO. The 
allocation is in accordance with the authorisation 
granted by the annual general meeting on 11 May 
2010, 23 May 2012 and 26 June 2013.

The options allocated in 2011, which remained 
outstanding at the start of 2013, became due 
without any redemption taking place. Of the options 
that were allocated in 2012, and which had an expiry 
date in 2013, 883 thousand were redeemed. The 
redemption prices for the outstanding options are 
NOK 1.33 for the options allocated in August 2012 
and NOK 2.01 for the options allocated in March 
2014. The redemption price for the options shall be 
reduced by the accumulated dividends paid out 
during the period after allocation of the options.  
No dividend was paid for the financial year 2012.  
The board of directors of Agasti Holding ASA has 
proposed to the annual general meeting that 
dividends are not paid out for the 2013 financial year. 
Share options allocated to selected managers in the 
group during August 2012 may be redeemed by 1/3 
in 2014 and 1/3 in 2015, during specific periods in 
both years. Share options allocated to selected 
managers in the group during March 2014 may be 
redeemed by 1/3 in 2015, 1/3 in 2016 and 1/3 in 2017, 
during specific periods in all three years. At the end 
of 2013, the share price was NOK 1.87.

Costs relating to the option scheme for employees 
in Agasti Holding ASA are recognised in the 2013 
financial statements with NOK 859,000. In 2013, 
National Insurance contributions relating to the 
option scheme amounted to NOK 14,000.

As at 31 December 2013, Agasti Holding ASA had 
not issued any other financial instruments that may 
result in a demand for issuing of new shares other 
than the mentioned share options.

For further information, please refer to note 3 in the 
Group accounts.

Note 2 Salary costs, total employees, remuneration, loans to employees, etc. (continued)



AgAsti Holding AsA 55

Benefits paid to board members:

Board member fee 1)

All amounts in thousands of NOK Position Period 2013 2012

Erling Meinich-Bache 2) Chairman of the Board 2013 270

Beatriz Malo de Molina 3) Vice Chairman of the Board from 29.11.13

Merete Haugli 4) Board Member 2013 440 290

Sissel Knutsen Hegdal Board Member 2013 235

Stein Aukner Vice Chairman of the Board until 29.11.13 220 220

Arne Reinemo Chairman of the Board 29.11. - 16.12.13

Paal Espen Johnsen Board Member 26.06. - 16.12.13

Pia Gideon Board Member until 29.11.13 200 200

Ole Peter Lorentzen Board Member until 30.04.13 215 200

1)  Board Members’ fees etc. are shown for the period in which the Board Member has held the office.
2)  Has acted as a Board Member and Vice Chairman of the Board in parts of the stated period.
3)  Has acted as a Board Member during parts of the stated period.
4)  Has acted as Chairman of the Board during parts of the stated period. The fee includes remuneration from  
 the audit committee.

NOTES TO THE cOmPANy AccOUNTS

Note 2 Salary costs, total employees, remuneration, loans to employees, etc. (continued)

Note 3 Combined items in the income statement
  
All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Costs relating to premises 1 493 304
IT costs 25 5
Fees for auditors, lawyers and consultants 11 280 6 346
Telephone and postage costs 0 95
Travel activities 1 171 702
Marketing activities 1 914 592
Other operating expenses 2 802 2 565
Total other operating expenses 18 685 10 609

Statutory audit 638 269
Other audit-related services 0 95
Assistance with tax return, etc. 0 0
Other services excluding auditing 1 899 1 334
Total auditing fee 2 537 1 698
The fees are given excluding VAT. 

Group interest income 4 016 2 835
Interest, bank deposits 132 304
Other financial income 31 14
Total financial income 4 179 3 153

Group interest costs 750 167
Bank interest and fees 833 110
Guarantees - expensed 1 700 0
Other financial expenses 1 146 0
Total financial expenses 4 429 277
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Note 5 Shares in subsidiaries

The companies listed below are all wholly owned by Agasti Holding ASA. 

All amounts in thousands of NOK
Company

Year of  
acquisition

Registered 
office

Value entered 
in the balance 

Equity
31.12.13

Net income 
2013

Navigea Securities AS 2010 Oslo 40 000 54 139 -1 284
Navexa Securities AB 2000 Stockholm  10 887  7 239  4 392 
Obligo Investment Management AS 2012 Oslo  29 024  20 314  13 011 
Agasti Capital Markets AS 2012 Oslo  6 102  634  -1 139 
Agasti Business Services AS 2001 Stavanger  15 316  13 255  4 964 
Acta Asset Management AS 1998 Stavanger  16 008  27 918  -4 801 
Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 1998 Stavanger  31 259 35 549 - 334
Acta Kapitalförvaltning AB 2008 Stockholm  487  484  1 
Total 149 084 159 531 14 809

In 2013, the shares in Navigea Securities AS have been written down by NOK 24.7 million equal the 
company’s estimated equity by the end of 2014. For further information please refer to note 21 in the Group 
accounts.

In 2013, Agasti Holding ASA has provided shareholder funding to Navexa Securities AB at a total of  
SEK 1.0 million, equivalent to NOK 0.9 million, as well as a capital contribution to Navigea Securities AS  
of NOK 5.0 million. 

Note 4 Fixed assets
 
All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Leasehold improvements
Original cost per 1 January 155 155
Additions by separate acquisition  133 0
Original cost per 31 December 288 155

Accumulated depreciations per 31 December 164 155
Entered value per 31 December 124 0
Year’s depreciations 9 0
Economic lifetime 4-5 years 4-5 years
Depreciation plan Linear Linear

Machinery, fixtures and equipment
Original cost per 1 January 205 205
Additions by separate acquisition 277 0
Original cost per 31 December 482 205

Accumulated depreciations per 31 December 240 192
Entered value per 31 December 242  13 
Year’s depreciations 48 7
Economic lifetime 4-5 years 4-5 years
Depreciation plan Linear Linear

Annual rental of non-recorded assets  
Rental costs

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Leasing agreements, premises, including common costs 1 027 226
Rental external meeting facilities 20 14
Rental, parking facilities 36 17
Leasing agreements, various machinery and equipment 0 9
Total 1 083 265
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Note 6 Share capital and shareholder information

Share capital in the company per 31 December 2013 consisted of 293,472,726 shares, each with a nominal 
value of NOK 0.18. There is only one share class.

For further information, please refer to note 10 in the Group accounts.

Note 7 Equity 

All amounts in thousands of NOK 
Share  

capital
Share 

premium 
Other paid

in equity
Other 

reserves Total
Equity January 2012  46 356  27 786  88 163  32 181  194 486 
Change in equity for the year:
Net income  -31 875  -31 875 
Stock option programme  458  458 
Equity 31 December 2012  46 356  27 786  88 621  306  163 069 

Equity January 2013  46 356  27 786  88 621  306  163 069 
Change in equity for the year:
Net income 7 123 7 123
Received Group contribution (net)
Rights issue 6 469 39 178  45 647 
Stock option programme     859  859
Equity 31 December 2013 52 825 66 964 89 480 7 429 216 698

At the ordinary general meeting on 26 June 2013, the Board of Agasti Holding ASA was granted authorisa-
tion to issue new shares in Agasti Holding ASA in one or several private and/or public placements. The 
authorisation applies for the issuance of up to 57.1 million shares with a nominal value of NOK 0.18, which 
means that the Board can, in accordance with the authorisation, increase the share capital by up to NOK 
10,280,000. Parts of this authorisation are specifically linked to a rights issue of 31.1 million shares, and was 
valid until 1 September 2013. The remaining authorisation for 26 million shares is valid until the date of the 
next ordinary general meeting, but no later than 30 June 2014. If the nominal value of the shares should 
change within the period of authorisation, the authorisation shall be changed accordingly.

Note 8 Long-term receivables 

Borrower All amounts in thousands of NOK Loan date Maturity 2013 2012 
Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 31.12.07 31.12.17 24 976 24 976
Acta Asset Management AS 31.12.07 31.12.17 17 000 17 000
Agasti Capital Markets AS 10.09.12 10.09.17 14 461 0
Total 56 437 41 976

Long-term receivables consist of subordinate loans to the subsidiary companies Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 
and Acta Asset Management AS, provided as a part of the management of the companies’ subordinate 
capital. The interest rate conditions are 3 months NIBOR with an additional 300 basis points. 

Long-term receivables towards Agasti Capital Markets AS consist of a liquidity loan given to the company  
in connection with the borrower’s investment in convertible bonds in 2012. The interest terms on the loan  
are 7.5 per cent. The receivables were originally short-term receivables, but in 2013 the maturity was 

extended to 10.09.2017, thereby converting the receivables from short-term to long-term.
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Note 9 Outstanding accounts with Group companies and related parties   

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 972 531
Acta Asset Management AS 3
Agasti Business Services AS 11 859 8 082
Acta Kapitalförvaltning AB 11 11
Agasti Capital Markets AS 23 734 16 065
Navexa Securities AB 4 063
Obligo Real Estate AS 29
Group contribution (net) from Navigea Securities AS 3 855 11 236
Group contribution from Obligo Investment Management AS 7 254 6 900
Group contribution from Obligo Real Estate AS 5 508
Group contribution from Obligo Fund Management AS 655
Group contribution from Obligo Partners AS 1 490
Group contribution from Agasti Business Services AS 1 435
Total intercompany receivables 56 802 46 892

Acta Asset Management AS 7 822 9 763
Obligo Investment Management AS 137 10 967
Navexa Securities AB 55
Navigea Securities AS 7 279 378
Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS 389
Group contribution (net) to Acta Asset Management AS 4 025 930
Group contribution to Acta Kapitalforvaltning AS 9 786
Group contribution to Agasti Capital Markets AS 1 644
Group contribution to Agasti Wunderlich Capital Markets AS 7 418
Total intercompany liabilities 38 500 22 092

Note 10 Current receivables and other current liabilities   

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012  
Outstanding accounts with Group companies 56 802  46 892 
Pre-paid costs  2 009  311 
Miscellaneous current receivables 0  1 195 
Total current receivables 58 810  48 397 

Outstanding accounts with Group companies  38 500  22 092 
Accrued expenses, unpaid wages, holiday pay, etc.  4 868  1 955 
Other current liabilities  1 016  7 199 
Total other current liabilities  44 384  31 246 
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Note 11 Income taxes 

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Tax payable on the year’s taxable earnings 0 0
Difference between tax return and accounts 31 12
Change deferred tax -448 1
Tax effect of received Group contributions -1 458 -631
Tax effect of provided Group contributions 14 675 5 580
Year’s tax expenses 12 800 4 963
Effective tax rate 1) 64,2 % -18,4 %

Net income before tax expenses in relation to year’s tax base  
Net income before tax expenses  19 923 -26 912

Temporary differences:
Change temporary differences 1 659 -5

Permanent differences:
Write-downs of shares in subsidiaries 24 650 44 083
Estimated benefit options 859 458
Other non-deductible items (net) 113 53
Provided Group contribution, taxable -52 410 -19 930
Received Group contributions (taxable) charged to investments in subsidiaries 5 206 2 253
Tax base for the year 0 0

Specification of tax effect of temporary differences 
Non-current assets 11 -11
Receivables -6 800 0
Accounting provisions 19 -5 100
Net temporary differences -6 770 -5 111
Net deferred tax (+)/deferred tax assets (-) on balance sheet -1 828 -1 431

Tax payable in balance sheet calculated as follows:
Tax payable on net income for the year 0 0
Paid too much/too little tax previous year 0 0
Total tax payable on balance sheet 0 0

Reconciliation of actual against estimated tax expense   
Net income before tax expenses 19 923  -26 912 
Calculated tax cost (28%) 5 578  -7 535 

Specification of other tax effects
Arrears from previous years 0 12
Permanent differences (28%) 2) 7 154 12 486
Change tax rate 68 0
Year’s tax expenses 12 800 4 963
Effective tax rate 1) 64,2 % -18,4 %

1)  Tax expenses in relation to pre-tax profit.       
2)  Includes non-deductible expenses, such as representation and miscellaneous customer events, individual  
 gifts and non-deductible foundation costs, option costs and the write-down of shares in subsidiaries.  
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Note 12 Assets pledged as collateral and guarantees   

Pledged assets (All amounts in thousands of NOK) Credit limit 2013 2012
Booked liabilities that are secured with collateral etc.:
Overdraft SpareBank 1 SR-Bank 60 000 -10 172  -20 840 
Total 60 000 -10 172 -20 840

Agasti Holding ASA has an overdraft facility with a limit of NOK 60 million. On 1 April 2014 the overdraft 
 facility will be reduced to NOK 30 million. In use of the overdraft, Sparebank 1 SR-Bank has collateral in the 
shares of the Groups subsidiaries, which Acta Holding ASA wholly owns as at 31 December 2013. In addition, 
the Group’s subsidiaries have made a declaration of negative pledge. For further information, please refer to 
note 19 in the Group accounts.

Guarantees       
Agasti Holding ASA has pledged unconditional guarantees for individual tenancy agreements entered into 
by the subsidiaries. The rental guarantees have a remaining duration of between one to five years. The total 
guarantee obligation for these as at 31 December 2013 is NOK 6.8 million.  

Note 13 Restricted bank deposits 

All amounts in thousands of NOK 2013 2012 
Tax withholdings 815 538
Total 815 538

Note 14 Financial risk  

For information regarding the company’s financial risk, please refer to note 17 in the Group accounts.

Note 15 Events after balance sheet date 

In order to fulfil the company’s obligations under option agreements entered into with employees, the  
Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA decided on 13 February 2014 to make use of the share issuance 
authorisation granted by the annual general meeting on 26 June 2013 towards the relevant option holders. 
The Board of Directors decided to increase the company’s share capital by NOK 43,443.54 from NOK 
52,825,090.68 to NOK 52,868,534.22 through the issuing of 241,353 new shares, each with a nominal value 
of NOK 0.18. As a result of the issue, Agasti received gross proceeds of NOK 265,488.30.

At its meeting of 6 March 2014, the Board of Directors of Agasti Holding ASA adopted an option scheme  
for selected managers in the Agasti Group with a total budget of 7 million stock options. The scheme is part 
of an incentive programme for the Agasti Group, which will help to give positive results and attract new 
employees as well as retain existing employees. On 6 March 2014, 5.67 million stock options were allocated 
to selected managers in the Agasti Group. Following this allocation, the number of issued options totals 
10.00 million shares.
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Oslo, 4 April 2014

Erling Meinich-Bache    Beatriz Malo de Molina   Merete Haugli 
Chairman of the Board    Vice Chairman of the Board  Board Member

Sissel Knutsen Hegdal   Jørgen Pleym Ulvness  
Board Member    CEO
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cONfIRmATION

Confirmation from the Board    

We confirm that the annual accounts for the period 1 January through 31 December 2013 have, to the best  
of our knowledge, been prepared in accordance with accounting standards, that the information in the 
accounts provides a fair representation of the company’s and the Group’s assets, liabilities, financial  
status and overall earnings, and that the information in the annual report provides a fair overview of the 
development, result, and status for the company and the Group, together with a description of the main  
risk and uncertainty factors that the company and the Group face.

 
Oslo, 4 April 2014

Erling Meinich-Bache    Beatriz Malo de Molina   Merete Haugli 
Chairman of the Board    Vice Chairman of the Board  Board Member

Sissel Knutsen Hegdal   Jørgen Pleym Ulvness  
Board Member    CEO
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